New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 26 (2020) 1232–1272.

A sparse quadratic T(1) theorem

Gianmarco Brocchi

ABSTRACT. We show that any Littlewood–Paley square function S satisfying a minimal Carleson condition is dominated by a sparse form,

$$\langle (Sf)^2, g \rangle \leq C \sum_{I \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |f| \rangle_I^2 \langle |g| \rangle_I |I|.$$

This implies strong weighted L^p estimates for all A_p weights with sharp dependence on the A_p characteristic. In particular, the Carleson condition and the sparse domination are equivalent. The proof uses random dyadic grids, decomposition in the Haar basis, and a stopping time argument.

Contents

1.	Introduction	1232
2.	Preliminaries	1236
3.	Proof of Theorem 1	1239
4.	Reduction of (I) to a dyadic form	1240
5.	Reduction of (II) to a dyadic form	1245
6.	Reduction of (III_a) to a sparse form	1246
7.	Reduction of (III_b) to a sparse form	1250
8.	Sparse domination of the dyadic form	1259
9.	Proofs for the reduction to a dyadic form	1263
Appendix A. Conditional expectation and Haar projections		1266
Acknowledgements		1268
References		1269

1. Introduction

1.1. Setting. Let $\{\theta_t\}_{t>0}$ be a family of integral operators given by $\theta_t f(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} k_t(x, y) f(y) \, dy$ for which there exists C > 0 and $\alpha \in (0, 1]$ such that for

Received August 21, 2020.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 42B20, 42B25.

Key words and phrases. Sparse domination, T(1) theorem, Littlewood–Paley square functions, Carleson condition.

The author was supported by the UK Engineering and Physical Sciences Research Council (EPSRC).

all $x, y, x', y' \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and t > 0 the kernels k_t satisfy the following size and regularity conditions:

$$|k_t(x,y)| \le C \frac{t^{\alpha}}{(t+|x-y|)^{\alpha+d}} \tag{C1}$$

$$|k_t(x,y) - k_t(x',y')| \le C \frac{|x-x'|^{\alpha} + |y-y'|^{\alpha}}{(t+|x-y|)^{\alpha+d}} \quad \text{if } |x-x'| + |y-y'| < t.$$
(C2)

Let S be the vertical square function

$$Sf(x) \coloneqq \left(\int_0^\infty |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\right)^{1/2}.$$
 (1.1)

By the T(1) theorem of Christ and Journé [ChJ87] it is known that S is bounded on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ if θ_t applied to the constant function 1 gives rise to a Carleson measure $\nu := |\theta_t 1(x)|^2 dt/t dx$ on the upper half space \mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+ . A Carleson measure on \mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+ is a measure which acts like a *d*-dimensional measure in the following sense. Let Q be a cube in \mathbb{R}^d with sides parallel to the coordinate axes. Denote by ℓQ and |Q| the side length and the Lebesgue measure of Q, so that $(\ell Q)^d = |Q|$. Consider the Carleson box $B_Q := Q \times (0, \ell Q)$. Then ν is a Carleson measure if $\nu(B_Q)/|Q|$ is finite for any cube Q.

Let $\mathbb{1}_Q$ be the indicator function on Q. It has been shown [Hof08, Hof10, LM17a] that S is bounded in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ if there exists a constant $C_{\mathsf{T}} > 0$ such that the following *local* testing condition holds for any cube Q:

$$\int_{Q} \int_{0}^{\ell Q} |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_Q(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \le C_{\mathsf{T}} |Q|. \tag{T}$$

A standard example for which these conditions hold is $\theta_t f = f * \psi_t$, where $\psi_t(x) = t^{-d}\psi(t^{-1}x)$ and ψ is the mean zero Schwartz function which gives rise to the Littlewood–Paley square function [Gra14, §6.1]. In particular, conditions (C1) and (C2) are off-diagonal conditions compatible with the scaling while (T) is the cancellation condition $\int \psi = 0$.

The aim of this paper is to show that this Carleson condition (T) is equivalent to a sparse domination.

1.2. Main result. A collection of dyadic cubes \mathscr{S} is τ -sparse if for any $Q \in \mathscr{S}$ there exists a subset $E_Q \subset Q$ with the property that $\{E_Q\}_{Q \in \mathscr{S}}$ are pairwise disjoint and the ratio $|E_Q|/|Q| \ge \tau$ for a fixed $\tau \in (0, 1)$.

In this paper we say that S admits a sparse domination if for any pair of compactly supported functions $f, g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ there exists a sparse collection \mathscr{S} such that

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (Sf)^2 g \,\mathrm{d}x\right| \le C \sum_{Q \in \mathscr{S}} \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q |f|\right)^2 \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q |g|\right) |Q| \qquad (1.2)$$

where $C = C(\alpha, d)$ is a positive constant independent of f and g. We are now ready to state our main result.

Theorem 1. Let S be the vertical square function in (1.1). Then S admits a sparse domination if and only if the Carleson condition (T) holds.

Remark 1.1. It is possible to relax the L^2 testing condition (T) to the following weak L^0 condition: there is a non-increasing function $\varphi: (0, \infty) \to [0, 1)$ vanishing at infinity such that for all cubes Q and $\lambda > 0$ it holds that

$$\frac{|\{x \in Q : S(\mathbb{1}_Q)(x) > \lambda\}|}{|Q|} \le \varphi(\lambda). \tag{T}_0$$

See [MMV19, Theorem 1.6] and the remarks after it, where the measure ν_Q appearing there can be replaced by $\mathbb{1}_Q dx$. In particular, conditions (T_0) and (T) are equivalent, as each one is a necessary and sufficient condition for the L^2 boundedness of S.

1.2.1. Sharp weighted inequalities. Under condition (T) the square function S is bounded on the weighted space $L^p(w)$ for $p \in (1, \infty)$, provided that w belongs to the A_p class of weights for which

$$[w]_{A_p} \coloneqq \sup_Q \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q w\right) \left(\frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q w^{-\frac{1}{p-1}}\right)^{p-1} < \infty.$$

For $p \in (1, \infty)$ and w in A_p , let $\alpha(p)$ be the best exponent in the inequality

$$\sup_{f \neq 0} \frac{\|Sf\|_{L^p(w)}}{\|f\|_{L^p(w)}} \le C(S, p) [w]_{A_p}^{\alpha(p)}.$$
(1.3)

When p = 2, Buckley [Buc93] showed the upper bound $\alpha(2) \leq 3/2$. Later Wittwer improved it to $\alpha(2) = 1$ and showed that it's sharp for the dyadic and the continuous square functions [Wit02, Theorem 3.1–3.2]. The same result was obtained independently by Hukovic, Treil and Volberg using Bellman functions [HTV00, Theorem 0.1–0.4].

Andrei Lerner was the first to prove that $\alpha(p) = \max\{\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{p-1}\}$ cannot be improved [Ler06, Theorem 1.2] and to conjecture estimate (1.3) for Littlewood–Paley square functions. After improving the best known exponent for p > 2 [Ler08, Corollary 1.3], Lerner proved the estimate

$$\|Sf\|_{L^{3}(w)} \leq C[w]_{A_{3}}^{1/2} \|f\|_{L^{3}(w)}$$
(1.4)

for Littlewood–Paley square functions pointwise controlled by the intrinsic square function [Ler11, Theorem 1.1]. Lerner achieved this by applying the local mean oscillation formula to a dyadic variant of the Wilson intrinsic square function [Wil07]. Then the sharp estimate (1.3) for all 1 follows from (1.4) by the sharp extrapolation theorem [Dra+05], see also [Gra14, Theorem 7.5.3]. A proof of the sharp bound (1.3) for the dyadic square function using local mean oscillation can be found in [CrMP12, Theorem 1.8].

While Lerner's result relies on a pointwise control of the square function S, our Theorem 1 implies the weighted estimate (1.4) by duality, and so the estimate (1.3) in the full range with optimal dependence on the A_p characteristic.

Other estimates for square functions have been studied using sparse domination, as the weak type estimates [LS12] and mixed $A_p - A_{\infty}$ estimates [LL16, DLR16].

After the solution of the A_2 conjecture by Hytönen [Hyt12], sparse domination has been used to obtain a simpler proof of the A_2 theorem [Ler13, Lac17] and to deduce weighted estimates for a plethora of different operators including: Calderón–Zygmund operators [Con+17, ConR16, Ler16, CuDO18b], bilinear Hilbert transform [CuDO18a], variational Carleson operators [DDU18], oscillatory and random singular integrals [LS17], pseudodifferential operators [BelC17], Stein's square function [CD17], and singular Radon transforms [Ober19].

The sparse paradigm has already been extended beyond the classical Calderón–Zygmund theory to control more general bilinear forms [BerFP16] and to obtain weighted estimates for Bochner–Riesz multipliers [LMR19, BenBL17].

Another take on sparse domination, which inspired this work, is the sparse T1 theorem for Calderón–Zygmund operators [LM17b], where Lacey and Mena obtained a sparse domination under a minimal testing assumption.

1.3. Structure of the paper. In $\S2$ we introduce shifted random dyadic grids and the associated Haar basis. Furthermore we use the classical reduction to good cubes. In $\S3$ we start the proof of Theorem 1 by decomposing the operator into off-diagonal and diagonal parts. These are split further each one into two terms

$$\langle (Sf)^2, g \rangle \lesssim \underbrace{(\mathbf{I}) + (\mathbf{II})}_{\text{off-diagonal}} + \underbrace{(\mathbf{III}_a) + (\mathbf{III}_b)}_{\text{diagonal}}.$$

The off-diagonal part is bounded by a dyadic form using standard techniques in $\S4$ and off-diagonal estimates in $\S5$. The dyadic form is dominated by a sparse form in $\S8$.

Terms (III_a) and (III_b) come from a Calderón–Zygmund decomposition g = a + b, where a is the average part and b is the bad part of g.

In §6 we introduce the stopping cubes used to control the diagonal part. We reduce (III_a) to a telescopic sum on stopping cubes plus off-diagonal terms. We remark that the stopping family depends only on the functions f and g. Furthermore, the testing condition (T) is used only in this section and only once.

In §7 we deal with (III_b). We exploit the zero average property of b together with the regularity of the kernel (C2) to restore a setting in which off-diagonal estimates can be applied as in the previous sections, see §7.1.

In $\S9$ we collect some of the proofs postponed to ease the reading. In Appendix A we recall some known results about conditional expectations and Haar projections which are used in $\S7$.

Notation. For two positive quantities X and Y the notation $X \leq Y$ means that there exists a constant C > 0 such that $X \leq CY$. The dependence of C on other parameters will be indicated by subscripts $X \leq_{d,r,\alpha} Y$ when appropriate.

Given a cube Q in \mathbb{R}^d , the quantities ∂Q , ℓQ and |Q| denote, respectively, boundary, size length, and the Lebesgue measure of Q. We also denote by 3Q the (non-dyadic) cube with the same centre of Q and side length $3\ell Q$.

The average of a function f over a cube Q will be denoted by

$$\langle f \rangle_Q := \oint_Q f := \frac{1}{|Q|} \int_Q f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$

We consider \mathbb{R}^d with the ℓ^{∞} metric $|x| = \max_i |x_i|$. The distance between two cubes P and R will be denoted by d(P, R), while

$$D(P,R) \coloneqq \ell P + d(P,R) + \ell R$$

is the "long distance", as defined in [NTV03, Definition 6.3].

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Dyadic cubes. The standard dyadic grid \mathfrak{D} on \mathbb{R}^d is a collection of nested cubes organised in generations

$$\mathfrak{D}_j \coloneqq \{2^{-j}([0,1)^d + m), m \in \mathbb{Z}^d\}.$$

Each generation \mathfrak{D}_j is a partition of the whole space and $\mathfrak{D} = \bigcup_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{D}_j$. Any cube $Q \in \mathfrak{D}_j$ has 2^d children in \mathfrak{D}_{j+1} and one parent in \mathfrak{D}_{j-1} . For $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we denote by $Q^{(k)}$ the k-ancestor of Q, that is the unique cube R in the same grid \mathfrak{D} such that $R \supset Q$ and $\ell R = 2^k \ell Q$. We also denote by $\mathsf{ch}_k(Q)$ the set of the k-grandchildren of Q, so that if $P \in \mathsf{ch}_k(Q)$ then $P^{(k)} = Q$.

2.2. Haar functions. Given a dyadic system \mathfrak{D} on \mathbb{R}^d , Haar functions are an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ given by linear combinations of indicator functions supported on cubes in \mathfrak{D} .

On \mathbb{R} , for a given interval $I \in \mathfrak{D}$ let I^- and I^+ be the left and the right dyadic child of I. Consider the functions $h_I^0 \coloneqq |I|^{-1/2} \mathbb{1}_I$ and $h_I^1 \coloneqq (\mathbb{1}_{I^-} - \mathbb{1}_{I^+})|I|^{-1/2}$. Then $\{h_I^1\}_{I\in\mathfrak{D}}$ is an orthonormal complete system of $L^2(\mathbb{R})$. In higher dimensions, as a cube I is the product of intervals $I_1 \times \cdots \times I_d$, a non-constant Haar function h_I^ϵ is the product $h_{I_1}^{\epsilon_1} \times \cdots \times h_{I_d}^{\epsilon_d}$, where $\epsilon = (\epsilon_i)_i \in \{0,1\}^d \setminus \{0\}^d$.

A function f in L^2 can be written in the Haar basis:

$$f = \sum_{I \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\epsilon \in \{0,1\}^d \setminus \{0\}^d} \langle f, h_I^\epsilon \rangle h_I^\epsilon$$

$$= \sum_{I \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{J \in \mathsf{ch}_1(I)} \left(\langle f \rangle_J - \langle f \rangle_I \right) \mathbb{1}_J \eqqcolon \sum_{I \in \mathfrak{D}} \Delta_I f$$

In this paper the sum over ϵ is not important, so both the superscript and the sum will be omitted and h_I will denote a non-constant Haar function. Two bounds that will be used are

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Delta_I f\|_{L^1} &\leq |\langle f, h_I \rangle| |I|^{1/2} \leq \int_I |f|, \\ \|\Delta_I f\|_{L^\infty} &\leq |\langle f, h_I \rangle| |I|^{-1/2} \leq \int_I |f|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.1)$$

2.3. Good and bad cubes. A cube is called *good* if it is distant from the boundary of any much larger cube. More precisely, we have the following

Definition 2.1 (Good cubes). Given two parameters $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\gamma \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$, a cube $R \in \mathfrak{D}$ is r-good if $d(R, \partial P) > (\ell R)^{\gamma} (\ell P)^{1-\gamma}$ for any $P \in \mathfrak{D}$ with $\ell P \geq 2^r \ell R$.

A cube which is not good is a bad cube.

It is useful to fix $\gamma = \alpha/(4\alpha + 4d)$. This is just a convenient choice and any other value of γ strictly between 0 and $\alpha/(2\alpha + 2d)$ would work as well.

2.4. Shifted dyadic cubes. Given a sequence $\omega = \{\omega_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \in (\{0, 1\}^d)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and a cube $R \in \mathfrak{D}_i$ of length 2^{-j} , the translation of R by ω is defined by

$$R \dot{+} \omega \coloneqq R + x_j$$
 where $x_j \coloneqq \sum_{i>j} \omega_i 2^{-i}$.

For a fixed ω , let \mathfrak{D}^{ω} be the collection of dyadic cubes in \mathfrak{D} translated by ω . The standard dyadic grid corresponds to \mathfrak{D}^0 where $\omega_i = 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. Shifted dyadic grids enjoy the same nested properties of the standard grid \mathfrak{D}^0 , together with other properties that will be useful later, see Remark 4.5. For more on dyadic grids, we refer the reader to the beautiful survey [Per19, §3].

2.5. Random shifts. Let \mathbb{P} be the unique probability measure on $\Omega := (\{0,1\}^d)^{\mathbb{Z}}$ such that the coordinate projections are independent and uniformly distributed. Fix $R \in \mathfrak{D}^0$ with $\ell R = 2^{-j}$ and consider $J \in \mathfrak{D}^0$ with $\ell J > \ell R$. The translated cube $J + \omega$ is

$$J \dot{+} \omega = J + \sum_{2^{-i} < \ell R} \omega_i 2^{-i} + \sum_{\ell R \le 2^{-i} < \ell J} \omega_i 2^{-i}$$
$$R \dot{+} \omega = R + \sum_{2^{-i} < \ell R} \omega_i 2^{-i}.$$

The position of $R + \omega$ depends on the *i* such that $2^{-i} < \ell R$ while the goodness of $R + \omega$, since *R* and *J* are translated by the same ω , depends on the *i* such that $2^{-i} \geq \ell R$. Then position and goodness of a cube are independent random variables, see [Hyt12]. GIANMARCO BROCCHI

Let $\mathbb{1}_{good}$ be the function on \mathfrak{D}^{ω} which takes value 0 on bad cubes and 1 on good cubes. The probability of a cube R to be good is $\pi_{good} = \mathbb{P}(R \dot{+} \omega \text{ is good}) = \mathbb{E}_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}_{good}(R \dot{+} \omega)]$, where \mathbb{E}_{ω} is the expectation with respect to \mathbb{P} . The probability $\pi_{good} > 0$ provided to choose r large enough, see [Hyt17, Lemma 2.3]. The indicator function $\mathbb{1}_{R \dot{+} \omega}(\cdot)$ depends only on the position of $R \dot{+} \omega$, so by the independence of goodness and position, for any cube $R \in \mathfrak{D}^0$ we have

$$\mathbb{E}_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}_{\text{good}}(R \dot{+} \omega)] \cdot \mathbb{E}_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}_{R \dot{+} \omega}(\cdot)] = \mathbb{E}_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}_{\{R \dot{+} \omega \text{ good}\}}(\cdot)].$$
(2.2)

2.6. Calderón–Zygmund decomposition on dyadic grandchildren. Let R be a dyadic cube. For $r \in \mathbb{N}$ we denote by R_r a r-dyadic child of R in $ch_r(R)$, so that $R_r^{(r)} = R$.

Proposition 2.2 (Calderón–Zygmund decomposition on r-grandchildren). Let $r \in \mathbb{N}$ and f be a function in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$. For any $\lambda > 0$ there exists a collection of maximal dyadic cubes \mathcal{L} and two functions a and b such that f = a + b, with $||a||_{L^{\infty}} \leq 2^{d(r+1)}\lambda$ and

$$b \coloneqq \sum_{L \in \mathscr{L}} \sum_{L_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(L)} b_{L_r}, \quad where \quad b_{L_r} \coloneqq \left(f - \langle f \rangle_{L_r} \right) \mathbb{1}_{L_r}.$$

Remark 2.3. When r = 0, this is the usual Calderón–Zygmund decomposition of f, see [Gra14, Theorem 5.3.1].

Proof. Given $\lambda > 0$, let \mathscr{L} be the collection of maximal dyadic cubes L covering the set

$$E := \left\{ x \in \mathbb{R}^d : \sup_{Q \in \mathcal{D}} \langle |f| \rangle_Q \mathbb{1}_Q(x) > \lambda \right\} = \bigcup_{L \in \mathcal{L}} L$$

so that $\langle |f| \rangle_L \in (\lambda, 2^d \lambda]$ for each $L \in \mathcal{L}$. Let

$$a\coloneqq f\mathbbm{1}_{E^\complement}+\sum_{L\in\mathscr{L}}\sum_{L_r\in\mathsf{ch}_r(L)}\langle f\rangle_{L_r}\,\mathbbm{1}_{L_r},\qquad b\coloneqq f-a.$$

The cubes in $\mathsf{ch}_r(L)$ are a partition of L. Since the cubes L in \mathscr{L} are disjoint, we have

$$\|a\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \lambda + \sup_{L \in \mathscr{L}} \sup_{L_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(L)} |\langle f \rangle_{L_r}|.$$

Let $L^{(1)}$ be the dyadic parent of L. Then the average of f is controlled by

$$\left|\frac{1}{|L_r|} \int_{L_r} f\right| \le \frac{|L^{(1)}|}{|L_r|} \oint_{L^{(1)}} |f| \le 2^{d(r+1)} \lambda.$$

3. Proof of Theorem 1

First, the sparse domination (1.2) implies that S is bounded in L^2 , which in turn implies the Carleson condition (T), see also [MM14, Remark 1.6]. Thus in the rest of the paper we will focus on the other implication. We start by decomposing the dual form $\langle (Sf)^2, g \rangle$.

3.1. Decomposition. For any fixed $\omega \in \Omega$ the upper half space \mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+ can be decomposed in the Whitney regions

$$W_R \coloneqq R \times \left[\frac{\ell R}{2}, \ell R\right), \quad R \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}.$$

Thus we can write

$$\langle (Sf)^2, g \rangle = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d+1}_+} |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} g(x) \,\mathrm{d}x = \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}^\omega} \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} g(x) \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

Then we decompose $f = \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}} \Delta_P f$. Given $R \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}$, we distinguish two collections of P:

$$\mathscr{P}_{R}^{\omega} \coloneqq \{ P \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega} : P \supset R^{(r)} \}, \text{ and } \mathfrak{D}^{\omega} \setminus \mathscr{P}_{R}^{\omega}.$$

We shall sometimes omit the superscript ω in the following. Bound the operator:

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} g \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq 2 \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big(\big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}\setminus\mathfrak{P}_R} \theta_t \Delta_P f \big|^2 + \big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_R} \theta_t \Delta_P f \big|^2 \Big) |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x. \tag{3.1}$$

Consider the second term in (3.1). Let P_R be the dyadic child of P containing R. Then $\Delta_P f \mathbb{1}_P = \Delta_P f \mathbb{1}_{P \setminus P_R} + \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R}$ and we split the operator accordingly as before to obtain:

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} g \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim$$
$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}\setminus\mathfrak{P}_R} \theta_t \Delta_P f \Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{I}$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_R}\theta_t\Delta_P f\mathbbm{1}_{P\setminus P_R}\Big|^2|g|\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\,\mathrm{d}x\tag{II}$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_R}\theta_t\langle\Delta_P f\rangle_{P_R}\mathbbm{1}_{P_R}\Big|^2|g|\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\,\mathrm{d}x.\tag{III}$$

In each term, without loss of generality, we can assume g to be supported on R. We write |g| = a + b using the Calderón–Zygmund decomposition in Proposition 2.2 at height $\lambda = A \langle |g| \rangle_R$ for A > 1. Then the bad part b is decomposed in the Haar basis.

$$(\mathrm{III}) = \sum_{R \in \mathcal{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_R} \theta_t \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} \Big|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} a(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{III}_a$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_R}\theta_t\langle\Delta_Pf\rangle_{P_R}\mathbb{1}_{P_R}\Big|^2\sum_{\substack{Q\in\mathfrak{D}\\Q\subset R}}\Delta_Qb(x)\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\,\mathrm{d}x.\qquad(\mathrm{III}_b)$$

3.2. Good reduction. Averaging over all dyadic grids \mathfrak{D}^{ω} we have

$$\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{d+1}_{+}} |\theta_t f|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x = \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}} \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t f|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$\lesssim \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathrm{I} + \mathrm{II} + \mathrm{III} \right] = \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathrm{I} + \mathrm{II} + \mathrm{III}_a \right] + \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathrm{III}_b \right]$$

because all the integrands are non-negative and the expectation \mathbb{E}_{ω} is linear. By using the identity (2.2) and writing 1 as $\pi_{\text{good}}^{-1}\mathbb{E}_{\omega}[\mathbb{1}_{\text{good}}(\cdot \dot{+}\omega)]$, one can turn a sum over all cubes in \mathfrak{D}^{ω} into a sum over good cubes, in particular:

$$\mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II} + \mathbf{III}_{a} \right] = \pi_{\text{good}}^{-1} \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathbb{1}_{\text{good}} (R \dot{+} \omega) \left(\mathbf{I} + \mathbf{II} + \mathbf{III}_{a} \right) \right], \qquad (3.2)$$
$$\mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathbf{III}_{b} \right] = \pi_{\text{good}}^{-1} \mathbb{E}_{\omega} \left[\mathbb{1}_{\text{good}} (Q \dot{+} \omega) \left(\mathbf{III}_{b} \right) \right].$$

We refer the reader to $[MM14, \S2.2]$ for an expanded version of (3.2) with $g \equiv 1.$

From now on, the cubes Q in (III_b) and the cubes R in all other cases are considered to be good cubes. The superscript in \mathfrak{D}^{ω} , as well as the expectation \mathbb{E}_{ω} and the probability π_{good} will be omitted.

4. Reduction of (I) to a dyadic form

We start by showing that

$$(\mathbf{I}) = \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathfrak{D} \\ R \text{ good}}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D} \setminus \mathscr{P}_R} \theta_t \Delta_P f \Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-cj} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$$

for c > 0, where $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ is the dyadic form given by

$$B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) \coloneqq \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \langle |g| \rangle_{3K} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{D} \\ P \subset 3K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j} \ell K}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2.$$
(4.1)

We remark that the function g barely plays any role in this section.

4.1. Different cases for P**.** Given $R \in \mathfrak{D}$, the cubes P are grouped according to their length and position with respect to R. This decomposition also appeared in [MM15, §4.3].

Table 4.1. Different cases for P given R according to their lengths
(first row) and position.

Remark 4.1. Since 3P is the union of 3^d cubes in \mathfrak{D} , the condition $3P \not\supseteq R$ is equivalent to $3P \cap R = \emptyset$, which implies that $d(P, R) > \ell P$. The condition $\ell P \geq 2^{r+1}\ell R$ allows to exploit the goodness of R also with dyadic children of P.

We decompose the sum over $P \in \mathfrak{D} \setminus \mathcal{P}_R$ in four terms.

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}\setminus\mathfrak{P}_R} \theta_t(\Delta_P f) \Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{\substack{P:\,\ell P > 2^r\ell R\\ 3P\setminus P \supset R}} \theta_t(\Delta_P f) \Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{near}$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{\substack{P:\ell P \ge \ell R\\ \mathrm{d}(P,R) > \ell P}} \theta_t(\Delta_P f)\Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \tag{far}$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{\substack{P: 3P\supset R\\ \ell R\leq \ell P\leq 2^r\ell R}}\theta_t(\Delta_P f)\Big|^2|g|\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\,\mathrm{d}x\qquad\qquad(\mathrm{close})$$

$$+\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\Big|\sum_{P:\ell P<\ell R}\theta_t(\Delta_P f)\Big|^2|g|\frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}\,\mathrm{d}x.$$
 (subscale)

4.2. Estimates case by case. We start with a well-known bound.

Lemma 4.2. Let $P, R \in \mathfrak{D}$ with R good. If one of the following conditions holds:

(1) $\ell P \ge \ell R$ and P and R are disjoint; (2) $\ell P < \ell R$;

then for $(x,t) \in W_R$ we have

$$|\theta_t(\Delta_P f)(x)| \lesssim \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} \|\Delta_P f\|_{L^1}.$$

The proof uses the goodness of R in case (1) and the zero average of $\Delta_P f$ in case (2), see also [LM17a, §5], [MM14, §2.4]. Details of the proof are deferred to §9.

We apply Lemma 4.2 for P in \mathcal{P}_i with $i \in \{\text{near, far, close, subscale}\}$ and estimate $\|\Delta_P f\|_{L^1}$ as in (2.1). Then we apply Cauchy–Schwarz in ℓ^2 .

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_i} \theta_t(\Delta_P f) \Big|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R} \left(\sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_i} |\langle f, h_P \rangle| \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} |P|^{1/2} \right)^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \qquad (4.2)$$

$$\leq \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R} \left(\sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_i} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} \cdot \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_i} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} |P| \right) |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

The quantity in parenthesis in (4.2) does not depend on t, so we bound $\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} dt/t \leq 1$ by taking the supremum in t. The second factor after Cauchy–Schwarz is finite in all cases.

Lemma 4.3. Let $i \in \{\text{near, far, close, subscale}\}$, then

$$\sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_i} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha + d}} |P| \lesssim 1.$$

Details of the proof are in $\S9$. We proceed with studying

$$\sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{R} \left(\sum_{P \in \mathcal{P}_{i}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha + d}} \right) |g| \, \mathrm{d}x$$

for $i \in \{\text{near, far, close, subscale}\}$. When P and R are disjoint, it's useful to rearrange the sums using a common ancestor of P and R.

Lemma 4.4 (Common ancestor). Let $R, P \in \mathfrak{D}$ be disjoint cubes with R good. If $d(R, P) > \max(\ell R, \ell P)^{1-\gamma} \min(\ell R, \ell P)^{\gamma}$ then there exists $K \supseteq P \cup R$ such that

$$\ell K \left(\frac{\min(\ell P, \ell R)}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} \le 2^r \operatorname{d}(R, P).$$

A proof in the case $\ell P \ge \ell R$ can be found in [Hyt17, Lemma 3.7]. When $\ell P < \ell R$, the same ideas carry over, see §9 for a proof of this case.

Remark 4.5. For any $P, R \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}$ there exists (almost surely) a common ancestor $K \in \mathfrak{D}^{\omega}$. Indeed, dyadic grids (like the standard grid \mathfrak{D}^{0}) without this property have zero measure in the probability space (Ω, \mathbb{P}) , see [Per19, §3.1.1 and Example 3.2].

4.3. *P* far from *R*. In this case $d(P, R) > \ell P$ and $\ell P = \max(\ell P, \ell R)$, so the hypotheses of Lemma 4.4 are satisfied. Let *K* be the common ancestor of *P* and *R* given by Lemma 4.4. Since $\ell P \ge 2^{r+1}\ell R$, let $\ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K$ and $\ell R = 2^{-i-j}\ell K$ for some $i, j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$, with $i \ge r+1$. We have

$$\sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{R} |g| \left(\sum_{P \in \mathscr{P}_{\text{far}}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(R, P)^{\alpha + d}} \right)$$
$$= \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{i,j} \sum_{\substack{R : R \subset K \\ \ell R = 2^{-i - j} \ell K}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P : P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j} \ell K \\ \mathrm{d}(P, R) > \ell P}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(R, P)^{\alpha + d}}.$$

By using the lower bound $d(P, R) \gtrsim_r (\ell K)^{1-\gamma} (\ell R)^{\gamma}$ with $\gamma = \alpha/(4\alpha + 4d)$, we estimate

$$\frac{\sqrt{\ell P \ell R}}{\mathrm{d}(P,R)} \lesssim_r \frac{2^{-j-i/2} \ell K}{\ell K 2^{-(i+j)\gamma}}$$

so that

$$\frac{(\sqrt{\ell P \ell R})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(P,R)^{\alpha+d}} \lesssim_{r,\alpha,d} \frac{2^{-(j+i/2)\alpha}}{2^{-(i+j)\gamma(\alpha+d)}|K|} = \frac{2^{-(3j+i)\alpha/4}}{|K|}.$$
(4.3)

For any fixed integer m, the set $\{R\subset K\,:\,\ell R=2^{-m}\ell K\}$ is a partition of K, so we bound

$$\sum_{K \in \mathfrak{Y}} \sum_{i,j} \sum_{\substack{R: R \subset K \\ \ell R = 2^{-i-j}\ell K}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P: P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K \\ \mathrm{d}(P,R) > \ell P}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(R,P)^{\alpha+d}}$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-3j\alpha/4} \sum_{i \ge r+1} 2^{-i\alpha/4} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{Y}} \int_{K} |g| \sum_{\substack{P: P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2.$$

We can sum in i, then we have

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-3j\alpha/4} \sum_{K\in\mathfrak{W}} \langle |g| \rangle_K \sum_{\substack{P\subset K\\ \ell P=2^{-j}\ell K}} \langle f,h_P \rangle^2 \\ &\leq 3^d \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-3j\alpha/4} \sum_{K\in\mathfrak{W}} \langle |g| \rangle_{3K} \sum_{\substack{P\subset 3K\\ \ell P=2^{-j}\ell K}} \langle f,h_P \rangle^2 \\ &= 3^d \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-3j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{W}}(g,f). \end{split}$$

A sparse domination of $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ is proved in §8.

4.4. *P* near *R*. Recall that $P \in \mathcal{P}_{near}$ if $3P \setminus P \supset R$ and $\ell P \ge 2^{r+1}\ell R$. By the goodness of *R*, we have that $d(P, R) > (\ell P)^{1-\gamma}(\ell R)^{\gamma}$. So the hypotheses of Lemma 4.4 are satisfied and there exists $K \supseteq P \cup R$ such that $d(P, R) \gtrsim_r (\ell K)^{1-\gamma}(\ell R)^{\gamma}$. Arguing as in the far term leads to

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{R}|g|\left(\sum_{P\in\mathscr{P}_{\mathrm{near}}}\langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2}\frac{(\sqrt{\ell R\ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(R,P)^{\alpha+d}}\right)\lesssim\sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}}2^{-3j\alpha/4}B_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}(g,f).$$

4.5. *P* comparable and close to *R*. In this case $\ell R \leq \ell P \leq \ell R^{(r)}$ and $3P \supset R$. Using the trivial bound $D(P, R) \geq \ell R$ we have

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{R}|g|\left(\sum_{P\in\mathscr{P}_{\text{close}}}\langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2}\frac{(\sqrt{\ell R\ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R,P)^{\alpha+d}}\right)\lesssim_{r,\alpha}\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{R}|g|\sum_{\substack{P:\,3P\supset R\\\ell R\leq\ell P\leq 2^{r}\ell R}}\frac{\langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2}}{|R|}.$$

Rearrange the sum in groups of P such that $\ell P = 2^k \ell R$ for $k \in \{0, \dots, r\}$. Then

$$\begin{split} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{k=0}^{r} \sum_{\substack{P: 3P\supset R\\ \ell P=2^{k}\ell R}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{1}{|R|} &= \sum_{k=0}^{r} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{2^{kd}}{|P|} \sum_{\substack{R\subset 3P\\ \ell R=2^{-k}\ell P}} \int_{R} |g| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=0}^{r} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{2^{kd}}{|P|} \int_{3P} |g| \\ &\lesssim_{r,d} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{3^{d}}{|3P|} \int_{3P} |g| \\ &= 3^{d} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \langle |g| \rangle_{3P}. \end{split}$$

We define

$$B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g,f) \coloneqq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \langle |g| \rangle_{3P}.$$
(4.4)

Then $B_0^{\mathfrak{M}}(g, f)$ is bounded by a sparse form in §8.

4.6. Subscale. When $\ell P < \ell R$ we distinguish two subcases, as shown in Table 4.1.

4.6.1. Inside : $P \subset 3R$. The leading term in the long-distance D(R, P) is ℓR , so we bound

$$\begin{split} \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} & \int_{R} |g| \Bigg(\sum_{\substack{P : \ell P < \ell R \\ P \subset 3R}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha + d}} \Bigg) \\ & \leq \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P : \ell P < \ell R \\ P \subset 3R}} \langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha/2} \end{split}$$

$$= \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/2} \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{Y}} \langle |g| \rangle_R \sum_{\substack{P : P \subset 3R \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell R}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2$$
$$\lesssim_d \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/2} B_j^{\mathfrak{Y}}(g, f).$$

See §8 for the sparse domination of $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$.

4.6.2. Far : $P \not\subset 3R$. In this case $d(P, R) > \ell R > \ell P$, so the hypotheses of Lemma 4.4 are satisfied. After Cauchy–Schwarz, rearrange the sum using the common ancestor K, then let $\ell P = 2^{-m}\ell R = 2^{-m-i}\ell K$ and estimate the decay factor as in (4.3):

$$\begin{split} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} &\int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P:\ellP < \ell R \\ \mathrm{d}(P,R) > \ell R}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{(\sqrt{\ell P \ell R})^{\alpha}}{D(P,R)^{\alpha+d}} \\ &\leq \sum_{i,m} \sum_{K\in\mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{R \subset K \\ \ell R = 2^{-i}\ell K}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-m-i}\ell K}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{(\sqrt{\ell P \ell R})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(P,R)^{\alpha+d}} \\ &\lesssim_{r} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-i\alpha/2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{K} |g| \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-m-i}\ell K}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{2^{-(m+i)\alpha/4} 2^{-i\alpha/2}}{|K|} \\ &\leq \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-i\alpha/2} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \int_{K} |g| \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \end{split}$$

where $j \coloneqq m+i$ and we bounded by the sum over all $j \ge 0$, since all terms are non-negative. After summing in i, what is left is bounded by $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$. This concludes this case and the reduction of (I) to a dyadic form. \Box

5. Reduction of (II) to a dyadic form

In this section we prove the following bound

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} |g| \Big| \sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}} \theta_t(\Delta_P f \mathbb{1}_{P\setminus P_R}) \Big|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f). \tag{5.1}$$

The dyadic form $B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ defined in (4.4) is controlled by a sparse form in §8.

Remark 5.1. The goodness of R gives the lower bound on the distance $d(R, \partial P) > (\ell P)^{1-\gamma} (\ell R)^{\gamma}$.

As will be clear from the proof, inequality (5.1) holds if one replaces the indicator $\mathbb{1}_{P \setminus P_R}$ with $\mathbb{1}_{K \setminus P_R}$ where K is \mathbb{R}^d or any other larger cube containing P.

To prove (5.1), we use a classical estimate for the Poisson kernel.

Lemma 5.2 (Poisson off-diagonal estimates). Let $\beta \in (0, 1], r \in \mathbb{N}$ and γ as in the introduction and let $Q, P \in \mathfrak{D}$ such that $Q^{(r)} \subset P$ and Q is r-good. Then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P} \frac{(\ell Q)^{\beta}}{\mathrm{d}(y,Q)^{\beta+d}} \, \mathrm{d}y \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell Q}{\ell P}\right)^r$$

where $\eta = \beta - \gamma(\beta + d)$.

Proof. Decompose $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P$ in annuli $A_k = 3^{k+1}P \setminus 3^k P$ for $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then on each annulus $d(y, Q) > d(\partial(3^k P), Q)$. Since $\ell P > 2^r \ell Q$, use the goodness of Q to obtain the bound.

Proof of (5.1). When $(x, t) \in W_R$ the size condition (C1) and Lemma 5.2 give

$$\begin{aligned} \theta_t(\Delta_P f \mathbb{1}_{P \setminus P_R})(x) &\lesssim \|\Delta_P f\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{P \setminus P_R} \frac{(\ell R)^{\alpha}}{(\ell R + \mathrm{d}(y, R))^{\alpha + d}} \,\mathrm{d}y \\ &\lesssim \frac{|\langle f, h_P \rangle|}{|P|^{1/2}} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta} \end{aligned}$$

where $\eta = \alpha - \gamma(\alpha + d) > 0$. The sum $\sum_{P \supset R^{(r)}} (\ell R / \ell P_R)^{\eta}$ is a geometric series. An application of Cauchy–Schwarz gives

$$\begin{split} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} |g| \left| \sum_{P\supset R^{(r)}} \frac{|\langle f, h_P \rangle|}{|P|^{1/2}} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R} \right)^{\eta} \right|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \sum_{P\supset R^{(r)}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|P|} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R} \right)^{\eta} \int_R |g(x)| \,\mathrm{d}x \\ &\lesssim \sum_{i\geq r+1} 2^{-i\eta} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|P|} \sum_{\substack{R\subset P\\ \ell R=2^{-i}\ell P}} \int_R |g| \\ &= \sum_{i\geq r+1} 2^{-i\eta} \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{D}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|P|} \int_P |g|. \end{split}$$

We sum in *i* and then we bound by the dyadic form $B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$.

6. Reduction of (III_a) to a sparse form

In this section we prove that there exists c>0 and a sparse family $\mathscr{S}\subseteq\mathfrak{D}$ such that

$$(\operatorname{III}_{a}) \lesssim \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \langle |g| \rangle_{R} \iint_{W_{R}} \Big| \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{P}_{R}} \langle \Delta_{P} f \rangle_{P_{R}} \theta_{t} \mathbb{1}_{P_{R}} \Big|^{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-cj} B_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + \Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(g, f) \tag{6.1}$$

where $\Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(g, f) = \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |g| \rangle_S \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 |S|$. We remind the reader that P_R is the dyadic child of P which contains R, and \mathscr{P}_R is the collection of P containing $R^{(r)}$.

Remark 6.1 (Bound on *a*). Recall that *a* is the good part of *g* in the Calderón–Zygmund decomposition of Proposition 2.2 with $\lambda = A\langle |g|\rangle_R$. So $||a||_{\infty} \leq 2^{d(r+1)}A\langle |g|\rangle_R$ and the first inequality in (6.1) follows.

6.1. Stopping cubes. Given two functions f and g and a cube $Q \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$, consider the collections:

$$\mathcal{A}_{f}(Q) = \{ S \in \mathfrak{D}, S \subset Q : \langle |f| \rangle_{S} > A \langle |f| \rangle_{Q} \},$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{q}(Q) = \{ S \in \mathfrak{D}, S \subset Q : \langle |g| \rangle_{S} > A \langle |g| \rangle_{Q} \}.$$

Let $\mathscr{A}^{\star}(Q)$ be the maximal dyadic components of the set

$$\mathcal{A}(Q) = \mathcal{A}_f(Q) \cup \mathcal{A}_g(Q)$$

The weak (1, 1) bound for the dyadic maximal function ensures that there exists a constant A > 1 such that $|\mathcal{A}(Q)| \leq \frac{1}{2}|Q|$ and so

$$\Big|\bigcup_{S\in\mathscr{A}^{\star}(Q)}S\Big|=\sum_{S\in\mathscr{A}^{\star}(Q)}|S|\leq\frac{1}{2}|Q|.$$

Fix Q_0 in \mathfrak{D} containing the support of f and g. The stopping family \mathscr{S} is defined iteratively:

$$\mathscr{S}_0 \coloneqq \{Q_0\}, \qquad \mathscr{S}_{n+1} \coloneqq \bigcup_{Q \in \mathscr{S}_n} \mathscr{A}^{\star}(Q), \qquad \mathscr{S} \coloneqq \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{S}_n.$$

Remark 6.2. The family \mathscr{S} is $\frac{1}{2}$ -sparse, since for any $S \in \mathscr{S}$ the set $E_S := S \setminus \bigcup_{S' \in \mathscr{A}^{\star}(S)} S'$ has measure $|E_S| > \frac{1}{2}|S|$ and $\{E_S\}_{S \in \mathscr{S}}$ are disjoint.

In the same way, taking $\mathscr{A}^{\star}(Q)$ to be the maximal dyadic components of $\mathscr{A}_g(Q)$ produces a sparse family that we denote with \mathscr{S}_g . It will be used later when only the stopping cubes related to g are needed.

For a given $Q \in \mathfrak{D}$, denote by \widehat{Q} the minimal stopping cube $S \in \mathscr{S}$ such that $S \supseteq Q$.

For $S \in \mathscr{S}$ let $\mathsf{Tree}(S)$ be the family of dyadic cubes contained in S, but not in any $S' \in \mathscr{A}^*(S)$

$$\mathsf{Tree}(S) \coloneqq \{ R \in \mathfrak{D} : \widehat{R} = S \}.$$

Also, we define $\operatorname{Tree}_r(S) := \{R \in \mathfrak{D} : \widehat{R^{(r)}} = S\}$. Note that the maximal cubes in $\operatorname{Tree}_r(S)$ are the *r*-grandchildren of *S*. See Figure 1 in the appendix.

6.2. Reduction to a telescoping sum. We follow the decomposition in [LM17a, MM14] where the sum $\sum_{P \in \mathscr{P}_R} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R}$ is decomposed in a telescopic sum plus off-diagonal terms. The off-diagonal terms are then bounded by a sum of the dyadic forms $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ or directly by a sparse form.

Given $S \in \mathscr{S}$ such that $S \supset P_R$, the indicator function $\mathbb{1}_{P_R}$ can be written as $\mathbb{1}_S - \mathbb{1}_{S \setminus P_R}$. Recall that $\widehat{P_R}$ is the minimal stopping cube containing P_R . Then

$$\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} = \begin{cases} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} - \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R} \setminus P_R} & \text{if } P_R \notin \mathscr{S} \\ \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} & \text{if } P_R \in \mathscr{S} \end{cases}$$
(6.2)

and in the latter case we have

$$\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} = \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_P = (\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}} \langle f \rangle_P) + \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus \widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_P$$

The term $\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R} \setminus P_R}$ is supported away from R, so one can use offdiagonal estimates as in (5.1). Also notice that in the bound (5.1) and in its proof one can replace |g| by $\langle |g| \rangle_R$. In the same way, off-diagonal estimates are used for $\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus \widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_P$ as shown in Lemma 6.4 below.

The terms $\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}}$ and $\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}} \langle f \rangle_P$ left from (6.2) and (6.3) are rearranged to obtain a telescopic series. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_{R}}} \langle \Delta_{P} f \rangle_{P_{R}} &= \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_{R}}} \langle f \rangle_{P_{R}} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_{R}}} \langle f \rangle_{P} \qquad \text{when } P_{R} \not\in \mathscr{S} \\ \text{and} \qquad \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_{P}}} \langle f \rangle_{P_{R}} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}} \langle f \rangle_{P} \qquad \text{when } P_{R} \in \mathscr{S}. \end{split}$$

If $P_R \notin \mathscr{S}$ then P and P_R are contained in the same minimal stopping cube \widehat{P} . So $\widehat{P_R} = \widehat{P}$ and the two cases add up to $2(\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}}\langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}}\langle f \rangle_P)$ which leads to the telescopic sum

$$\sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{Y} \\ R^{(r)} \subset P \subseteq Q_0}} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}} \langle f \rangle_P = \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}} \langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{Q_0}} \langle f \rangle_{Q_0}.$$
(6.4)

Since f is supported on a fixed Q_0 , the average on larger cubes $Q_0^{(n)}$ containing Q_0 decreases:

$$\langle f \rangle_{Q_0^{(n)}} = \frac{1}{|Q_0^{(n)}|} \int_{Q_0} f \le \frac{1}{|Q_0^{(n)}|} ||f||_{L^1} \to 0 \quad \text{as } n \to \infty.$$

Thus when the sum in (6.4) extends to all $P \supset R^{(r)}$, the term $\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}} \langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}}$ is the only one remaining.

We have then identified three terms

$$\sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{B} \\ P \supset R^{(r)}}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} = \sum_{\text{telescopic}} -\sum_{\text{far}} + \sum_{\text{sparse}}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\text{far}} &\coloneqq \sum_{P:P \supset R^{(r)}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R} \setminus P_R} \,, \qquad \sum_{\text{sparse}} \coloneqq \sum_{P:P \supset R^{(r)} \atop P_R \in \mathscr{S}} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus P_R} \langle f \rangle_P \\ \text{and} \qquad \sum_{\text{telescopic}} &\coloneqq \sum_{P \supset R^{(r)}} 2(\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_R}} \langle f \rangle_{P_R} - \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}} \langle f \rangle_P) = \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}} \langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}}. \end{split}$$

Since the case with \sum_{far} is done in (5.1), we show how to deal with the remaining two cases.

6.3. Bound by a sparse form. We bound the operator applied to $\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}}\langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}}$ and $\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus P_R} \langle f \rangle_P$.

Lemma 6.3. Let \mathscr{S} be the sparse collection defined in §6.1, then

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R}\langle |g|\rangle_R |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}}(x)|^2 \langle f\rangle_{R^{(r)}}^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}}\langle |g|\rangle_S \langle |f|\rangle_S^2 |S|.$$

Proof. The set {Tree_r(S): $S \in \mathscr{S}$ } is a partition of \mathfrak{D} , so we write

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \langle |g| \rangle_R |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(r)}}}(x)|^2 \langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}}^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}} \sum_{R:\,\widehat{R^{(r)}}=S} 2^{rd} \langle |g| \rangle_{R^{(r)}} \langle f \rangle_{R^{(r)}}^2 \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_S(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$\lesssim_{r,d} \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}} \langle |g| \rangle_S \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 \sum_{R:\,R\subset S} \iint_{W_R} |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_S(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$= \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}} \langle |g| \rangle_S \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 \int_S \int_0^{\ell S} |\theta_t \mathbb{1}_S(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x$$

$$\leq C_{\mathsf{T}} \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}} \langle |g| \rangle_S \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 |S|$$

where we used the stopping conditions for f and g, and the testing condition (T).

Lemma 6.4. Let \mathscr{S} be the sparse collection defined in §6.1, then

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\iint_{W_R} \left| \sum_{\substack{P:P\supset R^{(r)}\\P_R\in\mathscr{S}}} \theta_t(\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}\setminus P_R})\langle f\rangle_P \right|^2 |g| \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \sum_{S\in\mathscr{S}'} \langle |f|\rangle_S^2 \langle |g|\rangle_S |S| \quad (6.5)$$

where \mathscr{S}' is the sparse collection of dyadic parents of \mathscr{S} .

Proof. Since $P \supset R^{(r)}$, the dyadic child $P_R = R^{(k)}$ for some integer $k \ge r$. For $(x,t) \in W_R$, an application of Poisson off-diagonal estimates (Lemma 5.2) gives

$$\theta_t(\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}\setminus P_R})(x) = \theta_t(\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{R^{(k+1)}\setminus R^{(k)}}})(x) \lesssim (\ell R/\ell R^{(k)})^\eta = 2^{-k\eta}.$$

After applying Cauchy–Schwarz the sums are rearranged using ${\cal P}$ as the common ancestor:

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\int_{R}|g|\sum_{\substack{P:P\supset R^{(r)}\\\widehat{P_{R}}=P_{R}}}\langle f\rangle_{P}^{2}\left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_{R}}\right)^{\eta}=\sum_{k\geq r}2^{-k\eta}\sum_{\substack{P\in\mathfrak{D}\\\text{with }P_{R}\in\mathscr{S}}}\langle f\rangle_{P}^{2}\sum_{\substack{R:R\subset P\\\ell R=2^{-k-1}\ell P}}\int_{R}|g|$$

$$= \sum_{k \ge r} 2^{-k\eta} \sum_{P: P_R \in \mathscr{S}} \langle f \rangle_P^2 \int_P |g|$$
$$\leq \sum_{P: P_R \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |f| \rangle_P^2 \int_P |g|.$$

Let \mathscr{S}' be the collection $\{P \in \mathfrak{D} : P \supset S, \ell P = 2\ell S \text{ for some } S \in \mathscr{S}\}$. If \mathscr{S} is τ -sparse, then \mathscr{S}' is $\tau 2^{-d}$ -sparse. This establishes (6.5) and concludes the proof.

The sparse collection in (6.1) can be taken as the union of \mathscr{S}' and the stopping family in §6.1.

7. Reduction of (III_b) to a sparse form

In this section we show that there exists c>0 and a sparse family $\widetilde{\mathscr{S}}$ such that

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \iint_{W_R} \Big| \sum_{P\in\mathfrak{P}_R} \theta_t \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} \Big|^2 \sum_{\substack{Q\in\mathfrak{D}\\Q \text{ good}, Q \subset R}} \Delta_Q b(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x \\ \lesssim \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-cj} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + \Lambda_{\widetilde{\mathscr{S}}}(g, f).$$

In order to exploit the goodness of Q, for example via Poisson off-diagonal estimates as in Lemma 5.2, we need a gap of at least r generations between Q and P_R . This motivates the Calderón–Zygmund decomposition in Proposition 2.2. In particular, since b is the bad part of g at height $\lambda = A \langle |g| \rangle_R$ given by Proposition 2.2, we have that

$$\sum_{\substack{Q\in\mathfrak{B}\\Q\subset R}}\Delta_Q b = \sum_{L\in\mathscr{L}}\sum_{\substack{L_r\in\mathsf{ch}_r(L)}}\sum_{\substack{Q\in\mathfrak{B}\\Q\subseteq L_r}}\Delta_Q b_{L_r}$$

Since A > 1, the cubes in \mathscr{L} are strictly contained in R. If we choose the constant A as in the construction of the stopping family in §6.1, then the cubes in \mathscr{L} are also stopping cubes in \mathscr{S}_g . We can regroup the dyadic cubes $Q \subseteq L_r$ in the stopping trees $\mathsf{Tree}_r(S)$ for all $S \in \mathscr{S}_g$ inside R.

$$\sum_{L \in \mathscr{D}} \sum_{L_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(L)} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathscr{D} \\ Q \subseteq L_r}} \Delta_Q b_{L_r} = \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathscr{S}_g \\ S \subset R}} \sum_{\substack{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S) \\ Q \subseteq S_r}} \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathsf{Tree}_r(S) \\ Q \subseteq S_r}} \Delta_Q b_{S_r}.$$

The last sum is the Haar projection of b on $\text{Span}\{h_Q : Q \in \text{Tree}_r(S), Q \subseteq S_r\}$. We denote this quantity by

$$\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(b) \coloneqq \sum_{\substack{Q \in \operatorname{Tree}_r(S) \\ Q \subseteq S_r}} \Delta_Q b_{S_r}.$$

Remark 7.1. The Haar projection $\mathcal{P}_{S_r} b$ is supported on S_r and equals $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(|g|)$. Indeed $b_{S_r} = \mathbb{1}_{S_r}(|g| - \langle |g| \rangle_{S_r})$ and for $Q \subseteq S_r$ the Haar coefficient $\langle b_{S_r}, h_Q \rangle = \langle |g|, h_Q \rangle$.

We have then proved the following identity

$$(\mathrm{III}_b) = \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}_g} \sum_{\substack{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S) \\ S_r \text{ good}}} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \big| \sum_{P \in \mathscr{P}_R} \theta_t \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} \big|^2 \mathfrak{P}_{S_r}(|g|) \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \,\mathrm{d}x.$$

With a slight abuse of notation, we omit the subscript in the stopping family \mathscr{S}_g in the following.

Remark 7.2 (Estimates for \mathcal{P}_{S_r}). The Haar projection $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(|g|)$ has zero average and satisfies the following bound

$$\|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1} \lesssim |S_r|\langle |g|\rangle_S. \tag{7.1}$$

A proof of (7.1) is in Appendix A.4. In particular, summing over all $S_r \in ch_r(S)$ gives

$$\sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1} \lesssim \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} |S_r|\langle |g|\rangle_S \le \int_S |g|.$$
(7.2)

7.1. Recover decay and telescopic sum. Let P_S be the dyadic child of P containing S. Then

$$\sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} = \sum_{P:P\supset S} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{P_S} - \sum_{P:S\subset P\subseteq R^{(r)}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{P_S}.$$

The second term can be handled as in the subscale case (§4.6), while the first can be reduced to a telescopic sum which equals $\langle f \rangle_S \mathbb{1}_S$.

If one tries to reduce $\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{P_S}$ to a telescopic term plus off-diagonal terms as in §6.2, the off-diagonal factor which should provide decay is the quantity

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_S} \frac{(\ell R)^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(y, S_r)^{\alpha+d}} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Here the scale (numerator) and the distance (denominator) don't match and Lemma 5.2 seems unable to provide enough decay in order to handle the integral *and* the sum over R. But the zero average property of $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)$ comes to the rescue bringing a factor $(\ell S_r)^{\alpha/2}$ at the numerator by exploiting the smoothness condition of the kernel. We will explain how.

Let x_{S_r} be the centre of the S_r and consider the sublinear operator

$$K_t^{S_r} f(x) \coloneqq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{(t|x - x_{S_r}|)^{\alpha/2}}{(t + |x - y|)^{\alpha + d}} |f(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y$$

Since the Haar projection $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)$ is supported on S_r , we have the following bound.

GIANMARCO BROCCHI

Lemma 7.3. Let S_r and R be dyadic cubes with $S_r \subset R$, then

$$\iint_{W_R} |\theta_t f(x)|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)(x) \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \iint_{W_R} \left(K_t^{S_r} f(x) \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)(x)| \,\mathrm{d}x.$$
(7.3)

Proof. The idea is to use the zero average of $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)$ to exploit the smoothness condition (C2). We recall that $\mathcal{P}_{S_r}(g)$ is supported on $S_r \subset R$. Consider the operator

$$\mathscr{K}f(x) \coloneqq \int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} \left| \int k_t(x,y)f(y) \,\mathrm{d}y \right|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}$$

so that the left hand side of (7.3) equals $\int \mathcal{K} f(x) \mathcal{P}_{S_r} g(x) \, \mathrm{d}x$. Let x_{S_r} be the centre of S_r . Then

$$\int \mathcal{K}f(x)\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g(x)\,\mathrm{d}x = \int \left(\mathcal{K}f(x) - \mathcal{K}f(x_{S_r})\right)\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g(x)\,\mathrm{d}x$$

and the difference $\mathcal{K}f(x) - \mathcal{K}f(x_{S_r})$ can be factorised as

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} \left| \int k_t(x,y) f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right|^2 - \left| \int k_t(x_{S_r},y) f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right|^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \\ &= \int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} \left(\int [k_t(x,y) - k_t(x_{S_r},y)] f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \left(\int [k_t(x,y) + k_t(x_{S_r},y)] f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \right) \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} \\ &=: \int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} \mathcal{K}_{S_r}^- f(x) \cdot \mathcal{K}_{S_r}^+ f(x) \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t}. \end{split}$$

For $x \in S_r$, since $S_r \subset R$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$, the distance $|x - x_{S_r}| \leq \ell S_r/2 < \ell R/2 < t$, so by conditions (C2) and (C1) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{K}_{S_{r}}^{-}f(x) \cdot \mathscr{K}_{S_{r}}^{+}f(x) &\lesssim \int \frac{|x - x_{S_{r}}|^{\alpha}}{(t + |x - y|)^{\alpha + d}} |f(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y \cdot \int \frac{t^{\alpha}}{(t + |x - y|)^{\alpha + d}} |f(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y \\ &= \left(\int \frac{(t|x - x_{S_{r}}|)^{\alpha/2}}{(t + |x - y|)^{\alpha + d}} |f(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y\right)^{2} \eqqcolon \left(K_{t}^{S_{r}}f(x)\right)^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The operator $K_t^{S_r}$ satisfies Poisson-like off-diagonal estimates.

Lemma 7.4 (Estimates for $K_t^{S_r}$). Let $x \in S_r \subset R$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$. Let $Q \in \mathfrak{D}$ such that $Q \supset S_r$. Then there exists $\eta > 0$ such that the following estimates hold:

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q}(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\max(\ell R^{(r)}, \ell Q)}\right)^{\eta}, \quad K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_Q(x) \lesssim \frac{|Q|}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2}.$$

Remark 7.5. Notice that the first estimate is better than the one in Lemma 5.2 on smaller scale (when $\ell Q < \ell R^{(r)}$). For the second one, since $\ell S_r < \ell R$, we can also estimate

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_Q(x) \lesssim \frac{|Q|}{|R|}$$

provided that $x \in S_r$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$.

Proof of Lemma 7.4. For the second estimate, by forgetting the distance in the denominator, we simply have

$$K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_Q)(x) \lesssim \int_Q \frac{(\ell S_r \ell R)^{\alpha/2}}{(\ell R + \mathrm{d}(y, S_r))^{\alpha+d}} \,\mathrm{d}y \le \frac{|Q|}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2}.$$

For the first estimate, when $Q \supset R^{(r)}$ use $(a+b)^{\alpha} = (a+b)^{2\alpha/2} \ge (2ab)^{\alpha/2}$ in order to apply off-diagonal estimates. For $x \in S_r$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$ we bound

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q}(x) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q} \frac{(\ell S_r \ell R)^{\alpha/2}}{(\ell R + \mathrm{d}(y, S_r))^{\alpha+d}} \,\mathrm{d}y$$

$$\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q} \frac{(\ell S_r \ell R)^{\alpha/2}}{(\ell R \cdot \mathrm{d}(y, S_r))^{\alpha/2}} \frac{\mathrm{d}y}{\mathrm{d}(y, S_r)^d} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q} \frac{(\ell S_r)^{\alpha/2}}{\mathrm{d}(y, S_r)^{\alpha/2+d}} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(7.4)

Then apply Lemma 5.2 with $\beta = \alpha/2$

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q} \frac{(\ell S_r)^{\alpha/2}}{\mathrm{d}(y, S_r)^{\alpha/2 + d}} \, \mathrm{d}y \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell Q}\right)^\eta.$$

When $S_r \subset Q \subset R^{(r)}$, split $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q}$ as $\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus R^{(r)}} + \mathbb{1}_{R^{(r)} \setminus Q}$. Estimate $K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus R^{(r)}})$ as in (7.4). Then applying Lemma 5.2 with $\beta = \alpha/2$ gives

$$K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus R^{(r)}})(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^r$$

where η is positive and equals $\frac{\alpha}{2} - \gamma(\frac{\alpha}{2} + d) < \frac{\alpha}{2}$. For $K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{R^{(r)} \setminus Q})$ we bound

$$\begin{split} K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{R^{(r)}\setminus Q})(x) &\lesssim \int_{R^{(r)}} \frac{(\ell S_r \ell R)^{\alpha/2}}{(\ell R)^{\alpha/2} (\ell R)^{\alpha/2+d}} \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq \frac{|R^{(r)}|}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2} \lesssim_{r,d} \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2} = 2^{r\alpha/2} \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\alpha/2}. \end{split}$$

Adding the two bounds gives

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus Q}(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\eta} + \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\alpha/2} \le 2 \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\eta}$$

since $\ell S_r < \ell R^{(r)}$ and $\min(\eta, \alpha/2) = \eta$.

7.2. Reduction to telescopic: different terms. Apply Lemma 7.3 with $\sum \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R}$ in place of f to obtain

$$(\mathrm{III}_{b}) \lesssim \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathscr{S} \\ S_r \text{ good}}} \sum_{\substack{R: R \supset S}} \iint_{W_R} \left(K_t^{S_r} \sum_{\substack{P: P \supset R^{(r)}}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r} g| \,\mathrm{d}x$$

We split the sum in P to obtain a telescopic sum as in §6.2, with an extra subscale term:

$$\sum_{P \supset R^{(r)}} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R} \mathbb{1}_{P_R} = \sum_{\text{telescopic}} -\sum_{\text{far}} + \sum_{\text{sparse}} -\sum_{\text{subscale}}$$

where

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\text{telescopic}} &\coloneqq 2 \sum_{P: P \supset S} (\langle f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_S}} - \langle f \rangle_P \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P}}) = 2 \langle f \rangle_S \mathbb{1}_S \\ &\sum_{\text{sparse}} \coloneqq \sum_{P: P \supset S} \langle f \rangle_P \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus P_S} \\ &\sum_{\text{subscale}} \coloneqq \sum_{P: P \subseteq R^{(r)} \atop P \supset S} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{P_S} \\ &\sum_{\text{far}} \coloneqq \sum_{P: P \supset S} \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} \mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P_S} \setminus P_S}. \end{split}$$

Then we bound

$$\left|\sum_{\text{telescopic}} -\sum_{\text{far}} +\sum_{\text{sparse}} -\sum_{\text{subscale}}\right| \le \left|\sum_{\text{telescopic}}\right| + \left|\sum_{\text{far}}\right| + \left|\sum_{\text{sparse}}\right| + \left|\sum_{\text{subscale}}\right|$$

We estimate $K_t^{S_r}$ applied to each term by using sublinearity and Lemma 7.4. Then take the supremum in t on the Whitney region W_R to bound the remaining integral $\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} dt/t$ by 1.

We give the details in each case.

7.3. Telescopic term. This case is bounded by the sparse form $\Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(f,g) = \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 \int_S |g|$, where \mathscr{S} is the stopping family of g.

Lemma 7.6. It holds that

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R: R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \langle f \rangle_S^2 \left(K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_S \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(f,g)$$

Proof. For $x \in S_r$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$ we estimate $K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_S)(x) \leq |S|/|R|$ and $\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} dt/t \leq 1$. Then by using (7.2) for the Haar projection we have

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \langle f \rangle_S^2 \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \left(K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_S(x) \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r} g(x)| \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \langle f \rangle_S^2 \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{|S|}{|R|} \right)^2 ||\mathcal{P}_{S_r} g||_{L^1}$$
$$\lesssim_{r,d} \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \langle f \rangle_S^2 \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{|S|}{|R|} \right)^2 \int_S |g| \le \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 \int_S |g|.$$

7.4. Subscale term. This term is bounded in a similar way as in the subscale case in $\S4.6.1$.

Lemma 7.7. It holds that

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \Big(K_t^{S_r} \sum_{\text{subscale}} \Big)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x \lesssim \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x \leq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x > \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f) + C_{S_r}g | \,\mathrm{d}x >$$

Proof. First, since $K_t^{S_r}$ is sublinear, we bound

$$K_t^{S_r}\Big(\sum_{\text{subscale}}\Big) \leq \sum_{\substack{P: P \subseteq R^{(r)} \\ P \supset S}} |\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S}| K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{P_S}).$$

Then for $x \in S_r$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$ we estimate $K_t^{S_r} \mathbbm{1}_{P_S}$ using Lemma 7.4

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{P_S}(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell P_S}{\ell R}\right)^d \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2}.$$

Bound $\ell P_S < \ell P$ and $|\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S}| \le |\langle f, h_P \rangle||P|^{-1/2}$, then we apply Cauchy–Schwarz

$$\begin{split} \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \int_R \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \subseteq R^{(r)} \\ P \supset S}} |\langle f, h_P \rangle| \frac{|P|^{1/2}}{|R|} \right)^2 \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \, \mathrm{d}x \\ \leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R \supset S} \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \subseteq R^{(r)} \\ P \supset S}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|R|} \right) \left(\sum_{P \subseteq R^{(r)}} \frac{|P|}{|R|} \right) \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha} \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1} \\ \leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{\substack{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S) \\ P \supset S}} \sum_{R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha/2} \\ \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha/4} \right) \left(\sum_{P \subseteq R^{(r)}} \frac{|P|}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R} \right)^{\alpha/4} \right) \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1}. \end{split}$$

The second factor after Cauchy–Schwarz is controlled as in subscale case in Lemma 4.3 where $P \subset 3R$. Then bound $\|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1}$ as in (7.2) to obtain

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2} \sum_{\substack{P:S \subset P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|R|} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/4}$$
$$= \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \frac{1}{|R|} \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathscr{S} \\ S \subset R}} \int_{S} |g| \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2} \sum_{\substack{P:S \subset P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/4}.$$

For $i, j \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\ell P = 2^{-j} \ell R^{(r)}$ and $\ell S = 2^{-i} \ell R$. Extend the sum over all P such that $P \subseteq R^{(r)}$ and rearrange

$$\begin{split} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{G}} \frac{1}{|R|} \sum_{\substack{S\in\mathscr{S}\\S\subset R}} \int_{S} |g| \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2} \sum_{P:S\subset P\subseteq R^{(r)}} \langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/4} \\ &= \sum_{i,j} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{G}} 2^{-i\alpha/2} \frac{1}{|R|} \sum_{\substack{S\subseteq R\\\ell S=2^{-i}\ell R}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{\substack{P\subseteq R^{(r)}\\\ell P=2^{-j}\ell R^{(r)}}} \langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\alpha/4} 2^{r\alpha/4} \\ &\lesssim_{r,d} \sum_{i,j} 2^{-i\alpha/2} 2^{-j\alpha/4} \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{G}} \int_{R} |g| \sum_{\substack{P\subseteq R^{(r)}\\\ell P=2^{-j}\ell R^{(r)}}} \langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2} \\ &\lesssim_{r,d} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} \sum_{R^{(r)}\in\mathfrak{G}} \int_{R^{(r)}} |g| \sum_{\substack{P\subseteq R^{(r)}\\\ell P=2^{-j}\ell R^{(r)}}} \langle f,h_{P}\rangle^{2} \\ &\leq 3^{d} \sum_{j\in\mathbb{N}} 2^{-j\alpha/4} B_{j}^{\mathfrak{G}}(g,f). \end{split}$$

7.5. Far and Sparse terms. In this subsection we show that the quantity

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \left(K_t^{S_r} \left(\sum_{\text{far}} + \sum_{\text{sparse}} \right) \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x$$

is bounded, up to a constant, by the sum of $B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g,f)$ and $\Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(f,g)$. Since $K_t^{S_r}$ is sublinear and positive, we bound

$$\begin{split} K_t^{S_r} \Big(\sum_{\text{far}} + \sum_{\text{sparse}} \Big) &\leq \sum_{\substack{P : P \supset S \\ P : P \supset S \\ P_S \in \mathscr{S}}} |\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S} | K_t^{S_r} (\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus P_S}) \\ &+ \sum_{\substack{P : P \supset S \\ P_S \in \mathscr{S}}} |\langle f \rangle_P | K_t^{S_r} (\mathbb{1}_{\widehat{P} \setminus P_S}) \\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{P : P \supset S \\ P : P \supset S}} \Big(|\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S}| + |\langle f \rangle_P | \mathbb{1}_{\{P_S \in \mathscr{S}\}} \Big) K_t^{S_r} (\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_S}). \end{split}$$

Then split the sum over P and consider the two cases:

$$\sum_{P:P\supset S} = \sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}} + \sum_{\substack{P:P\subseteq R^{(r)}\\P\supset S}} \eqqcolon (i) + (ii).$$

Lemma 7.8 (Bound for (i)). Let F_P be either $\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R}$ or $\langle f \rangle_P \mathbb{1}_{\{P_S \in \mathscr{S}\}}$. Then the quantity

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \Big(\sum_{P:P \supset R^{(r)}} |F_P| \cdot K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_S}(x) \Big)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x$$

is bounded by the sparse form $\Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(f,g)$ up to a constant.

Lemma 7.9 (Bound for (*ii*)). Let F_P be either $\langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_S}$ or $\langle f \rangle_P \mathbb{1}_{\{P_S \in \mathscr{S}\}}$. Then

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \Big(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} |F_P| \cdot K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_S}(x) \Big)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x$$
$$\lesssim \Lambda_{\mathscr{S}}(f,g).$$

Proof of Lemma 7.8. In this case $P \supset R \supset S$, so the dyadic child P_S equals P_R . Using Lemma 7.4, since $\ell S_r < \ell S$, we have

$$K_t^{S_r} \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_R}(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell P_R}\right)^\eta \leq \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^\eta \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^\eta.$$

We bound $\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R} \, \mathrm{d}t/t \leq 1$ and then apply Cauchy–Schwarz

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\sum_{P : P \supset R^{(r)}} |F_P| \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R} \right)^\eta \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R} \right)^\eta \right)^2 \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1}$$
$$\leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \sum_{P : P \supset R^{(r)}} F_P^2 \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R} \right)^{2\eta} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R} \right)^\eta \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1}$$

since $\sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}} (\ell R/\ell P_R)^{\eta} \leq 1$. Bound the sum of Haar projections as in (7.2):

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \sum_{P:P \supset R^{(r)}} F_P^2 \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{2\eta} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta} \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1}$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \sum_{P:P \supset R^{(r)}} F_P^2 \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{2\eta} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta} \int_S |g|.$$

Rearrange the sums

$$\sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{\substack{R \in \mathfrak{D} \\ R \supset S}} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{D} \\ P \supset R^{(r)}}} = \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{P : P \supset R^{(r)}}} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathscr{S} \\ S \subset R \\ \ell S = 2^{-i} \ell R}}$$

then we continue as in the proof of (5.1).

$$\sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}}F_P^2\left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta}\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}\sum_{\substack{S\in\mathscr{S}\\S\subseteq R\\\ell S=2^{-i}\ell R}}\left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R}\right)^{2\eta}\int_S|g|$$
$$\leq \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}}\sum_{P:P\supset R^{(r)}}F_P^2\left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta}\sum_{i\in\mathbb{N}}2^{-i\eta}\int_R|g|$$

~

$$\leq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{Y}} F_P^2 \sum_{k \geq r} \sum_{\substack{R : R \subset P \\ \ell R = 2^{-k-1}\ell P}} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P_R}\right)^{\eta} \int_R |g|$$
$$\leq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{Y}} F_P^2 \sum_{k \geq r} 2^{-k\eta} \int_P |g| \leq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{Y}} F_P^2 \int_P |g|.$$

Now we distinguish the two cases for F_P .

If
$$F_P = \langle \Delta_P f \rangle_{P_R}$$

$$\sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} F_P^2 \int_P |g| \leq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|P|} \int_P |g|$$

$$\leq 3^d B_0^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f).$$
If $F_P = \langle f \rangle_P \mathbb{1}_{\{P_R \in \mathscr{S}\}}$

$$\sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} F_P^2 \int_P |g| = \sum_{P : P_R \in \mathscr{S}} \langle f \rangle_P^2 \int_P |g|$$

$$= \Lambda_{\mathscr{S}'}(f, g)$$
where \mathscr{S}' is the sparse collection.

1

Т

Then $B_0^{\mathcal{D}}(g, f)$ is bounded by a sparse form in Lemma 8.4. where \mathscr{S}' is the sparse collec-tion of dyadic parents of \mathscr{S} .

Proof of Lemma 7.9. For $x \in S_r$ and $t \in (\ell R/2, \ell R)$, since $S_r \subset S \subset P \subseteq$ $R^{(r)}$, by Lemma 7.4

$$K_t^{S_r}(\mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}^d \setminus P_S})(x) \lesssim \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^\eta.$$

Then we distribute the decay factor which is bounded as following

$$\left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\eta} \le \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\eta/2} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P}\right)^{\eta/2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}}\right)^{\eta/2}.$$

Estimate the integral $\int_{\ell R/2}^{\ell R}\,\mathrm{d}t/t\leq 1$ and the sum of Haar projections as in (7.2).

$$\begin{split} \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \sum_{R \supset S} \iint_{W_R} \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} F_P \left(\frac{\ell S_r}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^\eta \right)^2 \frac{\mathrm{d}t}{t} |\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g| \,\mathrm{d}x \\ \leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \sum_{S_r \in \mathsf{ch}_r(S)} \|\mathcal{P}_{S_r}g\|_{L^1} \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^\eta \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} F_P \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta/2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta/2} \right)^2 \\ \lesssim \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_S |g| \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^\eta \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} F_P \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta/2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta/2} \right)^2. \end{split}$$

Apply Cauchy–Schwarz.

$$\begin{split} \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta} \left(\sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} F_{P} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta/2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta/2} \right)^{2} \\ & \leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta} \sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} F_{P}^{2} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta} \cdot \sum_{\substack{P:P \supset S \\ P \subseteq R^{(r)}}} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta} \end{split}$$

The last sum is finite: since $P \supset S$ there is only one ancestor for each generation. Since all terms are non-negative, we bound by removing the restriction $P \subset R^{(r)}$ in the sum in P.

$$\begin{split} \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{R:R \supset S} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell R^{(r)}} \right)^{\eta} \sum_{P:P \supset S} F_{P}^{2} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta} &\leq \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \int_{S} |g| \sum_{P:P \supset S} F_{P}^{2} \left(\frac{\ell S}{\ell P} \right)^{\eta} \\ &= \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} F_{P}^{2} \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-i\eta} \sum_{\substack{S \in \mathscr{S} \\ S \subseteq P \\ \ell S = 2^{-i} \ell P}} \int_{S} |g| \\ &\leq \sum_{P \in \mathfrak{D}} F_{P}^{2} \int_{P} |g| \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-i\eta}. \end{split}$$

The two cases for F_P are as at the end of the proof of Lemma 7.8.

8. Sparse domination of the dyadic form

In this section we prove a sparse domination of the dyadic form $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ defined in (4.1).

Writing 1 as $\langle \mathbb{1}_P \rangle_P$ we have

$$B_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}(g,f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \langle |g| \rangle_{3K} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{D} \\ P \subset 3K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} \frac{\langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2}}{|P|} \mathbb{1}_{P}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Let Q_0 be a dyadic cube containing the support of f and g. On the complement of Q_0 the form is controlled.

Lemma 8.1. Let $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}|_{Q_0^{\complement}}(g, f)$ be the restriction of $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g, f)$ to the complement $(Q_0)^{\complement}$, then

$$B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}\!\!\upharpoonright_{Q_0^{\complement}}\!\!(g,f) \lesssim_d 2^{-jd} \langle |g| \rangle_{Q_0} \langle |f| \rangle_{Q_0}^2 |Q_0|.$$

Proof. Decompose $(Q_0)^{\complement}$ in the union of $Q_0^{(k+1)} \setminus Q_0^{(k)}$ for $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. The nonzero terms in $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}} \upharpoonright_{Q_0^{\complement}}(g, f)$ are the ones where P intersects Q_0 and $(Q_0^{(k)})^{\complement}$. Then $P \supset Q_0^{(k)}$ and in particular $P = Q_0^{(m)}$ for m > k. There is only one ancestor for each m, so we have

$$\begin{split} B_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}} \!\!\upharpoonright_{Q_{0}^{(k+1)} \setminus Q_{0}^{(k)}}(g, f) &= \int_{Q_{0}^{(k+1)} \setminus Q_{0}^{(k)}} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \langle |g| \rangle_{3K} \sum_{\substack{P \subset 3K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j} \ell K \\ P \supset Q_{0}^{(k)}}} \left(\frac{\langle f, h_{P} \rangle}{|P|^{1/2}} \right)^{2} \mathbbm{1}_{P}(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\lesssim \sum_{m=k+1}^{\infty} \langle |g| \rangle_{3Q_{0}^{(m+j)}} \langle |f| \rangle_{Q_{0}^{(m)}}^{2} |Q_{0}^{(m)}| \\ &= \sum_{m=k+1}^{\infty} 3^{-d} 2^{-(m+j)d} \langle |g| \rangle_{Q_{0}} 2^{-2md} \langle |f| \rangle_{Q_{0}}^{2} 2^{md} |Q_{0}| \\ &\leq 2^{-jd} \langle |g| \rangle_{Q_{0}} \langle |f| \rangle_{Q_{0}}^{2} |Q_{0}| \sum_{m=k+1}^{\infty} 2^{-2md}. \end{split}$$

The last sum is bounded by 2^{-kd} and summing over $k \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ concludes the proof.

It's enough to construct a sparse family inside Q_0 . Taking the supremum of $\langle |g| \rangle_{3K}$ over all $K \in \mathfrak{D}$ we have

$$B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}(g,f) \le \int M^{\mathfrak{D}}g(x) \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x))^2 \,\mathrm{d}x$$

where $M^{3\mathfrak{D}}$ and $S_j^{\mathfrak{3\mathfrak{D}}}$ denote the maximal function and the square function given by

$$M^{3\mathfrak{D}}f \coloneqq \sup_{Q\in\mathfrak{D}} \langle |f| \rangle_{3Q} \mathbb{1}_{3Q}, \qquad \left(S_j^{3\mathfrak{D}}f(x)\right)^2 \coloneqq \sum_{R\in\mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{P\in\mathfrak{D}\\P\subset 3R\\\ell P=2^{-j}\ell R}} \frac{\langle f, h_P \rangle^2}{|P|} \mathbb{1}_P(x).$$
(8.1)

As we see below, $S_j^{3\mathfrak{D}}$ is pointwise controlled by the square function $S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x)$ given by $(f, h)^2$

$$\left(S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x)\right)^{2} \coloneqq \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{P \in \mathfrak{D} \\ P \subset Q \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell Q}} \frac{\langle f, h_{P} \rangle^{2}}{|P|} \mathbb{1}_{P}(x).$$

Proposition 8.2 (Pointwise control). Let $f \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}_0$. For all $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ it holds that

$$S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x) \le S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x) \le 3^{d/2}S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x)$$

Proof. The enlarged cube 3R is the union of 3^d cubes $\{R_a\}_a$ in the same dyadic grid \mathfrak{D} . So

$$\left(S_j^{3\mathfrak{D}}f(x)\right)^2 = \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{P : P \subset 3R \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell R}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{\mathbb{1}_P(x)}{|P|}$$

$$= \sum_{R \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{a=1}^{3^d} \sum_{\substack{P : P \subset R_a \\ \ell P = 2^{-j} \ell R_a}} \langle f, h_P \rangle^2 \frac{\mathbb{1}_P(x)}{|P|}$$
$$= \sum_{a=1}^{3^d} \left(S_j^{\mathfrak{D}} f(x) \right)^2 \leq 3^d \left(S_j^{\mathfrak{D}} f(x) \right)^2.$$

We show that the square function $S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}$ satisfies a weak (1,1) bound. The proof follows the one for dyadic shifts without separation of scales [Hyt+14, Theorem 5.2] and [LM17b, Lemma 4.4].

Proposition 8.3. Let $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. There exists C > 0 such that for any $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ it holds that

$$\sup_{\lambda>0} \lambda |\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : S_j^{\mathcal{D}} f(x) > \lambda\}| \le C(1+j) ||f||_{L^1}.$$

In particular $||S_j^{\mathcal{D}}||_{L^1 \to L^{1,\infty}}$ grows at most polynomially in j.

Proof. First, $S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}$ is bounded in L^2 with norm independent of j. We want to show that for any $\lambda > 0$ we have

$$|\{x \in \mathbb{R}^d : S_j^{\mathcal{D}} f(x) > \lambda\}| \le C \frac{\|f\|_1}{\lambda}.$$

Let f = g + b be the Calderón–Zygmund decomposition of f at height $\lambda > 0$. Then $\|g\|_{\infty} \leq 2^d \lambda$ and in particular $\|g\|_2^2 \lesssim \lambda \|f\|_1$, while $b = \sum_{Q \in \mathscr{D}} b_Q$, where b_Q is supported on Q and $\int b_Q = 0$. The cubes Q in \mathcal{L} are maximal dyadic cubes such that $\lambda < \langle |f| \rangle_Q \le 2^d \lambda$.

Let E be the union of the cubes in \mathscr{L} . Then $|E| = \sum_{Q \in \mathscr{L}} |Q| \le \lambda^{-1} ||f||_1$ so it is enough to estimate the superlevel sets on the complement of E. Using the decomposition of f we have

$$\begin{split} |\{x \in E^{\complement} \colon S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x) > \lambda\}| &\leq \left| \left\{ x \colon S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}g(x) > \frac{\lambda}{2} \right\} \right| + \left| \left\{ x \in E^{\complement} \colon S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}b(x) > \frac{\lambda}{2} \right\} \right| \\ &\leq_{d} \frac{\|f\|_{1}}{\lambda} + \frac{2}{\lambda} \|S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}b\|_{L^{1}(E^{\complement})}. \end{split}$$

The last bound follows by using Chebyshev's inequality for the good part:

$$\left|\left\{S_j^{\mathfrak{B}}g > \frac{\lambda}{2}\right\}\right| \le \frac{4}{\lambda^2} \|S_j^{\mathfrak{B}}g\|_2^2 \lesssim \frac{\|g\|_2^2}{\lambda^2} \lesssim \frac{\|f\|_1}{\lambda}$$

and Markov's inequality for the bad part. The sublinearity of $S_i^{\mathcal{D}}$ and the triangle inequality imply that

$$\|S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}b\|_{L^1(E^{\complement})} \leq \sum_{Q \in \mathscr{D}} \|S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}b_Q\|_{L^1(E^{\complement})}.$$

For each $Q \in \mathcal{L}$, only dyadic cubes $K \supset Q$ contribute to the $\|S_j^{\mathfrak{D}} b_Q\|_{L^1(E^{\complement})}$, since if $K \subseteq Q$, then K would be inside E. Thus K is an ancestor of Q, so $K = Q^{(k)}$ for some integer $k \ge 1$. For k > j each j-child $P \subset K$ contains Q, and so $\langle b_Q, h_P \rangle$ vanishes, by the zero average of b_Q . Thus we estimate

$$\begin{split} \|S_{j}^{\mathfrak{D}}b_{Q}\|_{L^{1}(E^{\complement})} &\leq \int_{E^{\complement}} \sum_{K \in \mathfrak{D}} \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} |\langle b_{Q}, h_{P} \rangle| \frac{\mathbb{I}_{P}(x)}{|P|^{1/2}} \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{j} \sum_{\substack{K \supset Q \\ \ell K = \ell Q^{(k)}}} \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} |\langle b_{Q}, h_{P} \rangle| |P|^{1/2} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{j} \sum_{\substack{K \supset Q \\ \ell K = \ell Q^{(k)}}} \sum_{\substack{P \subset K \\ \ell P = 2^{-j}\ell K}} \|b_{Q}\|_{L^{1}(P)} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{j} \sum_{\substack{K \supset Q \\ \ell K = \ell Q^{(k)}}} \|b_{Q}\|_{L^{1}(K)} = \sum_{k=1}^{j} \|b_{Q}\|_{L^{1}}. \end{split}$$

Since $||b_Q||_{L^1(K)} = ||b_Q||_{L^1} \leq \lambda |Q| < \int_Q |f|$, and there is only one ancestor of Q for each k, we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{j} \|b_Q\|_{L^1} \lesssim \sum_{k=1}^{j} \int_Q |f| \le j \int_Q |f|.$$

Summing over all $Q \in \mathcal{L}$ gives the bound

$$\sum_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}} \|S_j^{\mathscr{D}} b_Q\|_{L^1(E^{\complement})} \lesssim \sum_{Q\in\mathscr{Q}} j \|f\|_{L^1(Q)} \le j \|f\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)}.$$

The operator $M^{3\mathfrak{D}}$ defined in (8.1) is also weak (1,1) as it is bounded by the Hardy–Littlewood maximal function, which is weakly bounded.

The following lemma exploits the weak boundedness of the operators $M^{3\mathfrak{D}}$ and $S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}$ to construct a sparse collection \mathscr{S} . The proof adapts the one in [LM17b, Lemma 4.5] to our square function. We include the details for the convenience of the reader.

Lemma 8.4 (Sparse domination of $B_j^{\mathfrak{D}}$). Let $j \in \mathbb{Z}_+$. For any pair of compactly supported functions $f, g \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ there exists a sparse collection \mathscr{S} such that

$$B_j^{\mathfrak{B}}(g,f) \lesssim \int M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f)^2 \lesssim (1+j)^2 \sum_{S \in \mathscr{S}} \langle |f| \rangle_S^2 \langle |g| \rangle_S |S|$$

where the implicit constant does not depend on j.

Proof of Lemma 8.4. Fix a cube $Q_0 \in \mathfrak{D}$ containing the union of the supports of f and g. By Lemma 8.1 it is enough to construct a sparse family inside Q_0 . Consider the set $F(Q_0)$ given by

$$\{x \in Q_0 \ : \ M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g(x) > C\langle |g|\rangle_{Q_0}\} \cup \{x \in Q_0 \ : \ S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f(x) > C(1+j)\langle |f|\rangle_{Q_0}\}.$$

By the weak boundedness of $M^{3\mathfrak{D}}$ and $S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}$, there exists C > 0 such that $|F(Q_0)| \leq \frac{1}{2}|Q_0|$. Then

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q_0} M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f)^2 &\leq \int_{Q_0 \setminus F(Q_0)} M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f)^2 + \int_{F(Q_0)} M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f)^2 \\ &\leq C^3 (1+j)^2 \langle |g| \rangle_{Q_0} \langle |f| \rangle_{Q_0}^2 |Q_0| + \sum_{Q \in \mathfrak{F}} \int_Q M^{3\mathfrak{D}}g \cdot (S_j^{\mathfrak{D}}f)^2 \end{split}$$

where \mathcal{F} is the collection of maximal dyadic cubes covering $F(Q_0)$. Iterating on each $Q \in \mathcal{F}$ produces a sparse family of cubes \mathscr{S} , since $\{E_Q \coloneqq Q \setminus F(Q)\}_{Q \in \mathscr{S}}$ are pairwise disjoint and $|E_Q| > \frac{1}{2}|Q|$ for each Q in \mathscr{S} . \Box

9. Proofs for the reduction to a dyadic form

Proof of Lemma 4.2. We distinguish three cases: $\ell P > 2^r \ell R$, where the goodness is used; $\ell P \in [\ell R, 2^r \ell R]$, where ℓP and ℓR are comparable; and $\ell P < \ell R$, where we use the zero-average of $\Delta_P f$ and the regularity condition (C2).

 $(\ell P > 2^r \ell R)$: Using the size condition (C1) and taking the supremum in $(x, t) \in W_R$

$$\theta_t(\Delta_P f)(x) \lesssim \int_P \frac{t^{\alpha}}{(t+|x-y|)^{\alpha+d}} |\Delta_P f(y)| \,\mathrm{d}y$$

$$\leq \|\Delta_P f\|_{L^1} \frac{(\ell R)^{\alpha}}{(\frac{\ell R}{2} + \mathrm{d}(R, P))^{\alpha+d}}.$$
(9.1)

If $d(R, P) > \ell P$, since $\ell P > 2^r \ell R$ the conclusion follows. Otherwise, by the goodness of R, we have that $\ell P < d(R, P) \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\gamma}$. The same bound holds for ℓR , so

$$D(P,R)^{\alpha+d} < 3^{\alpha+d} \operatorname{d}(P,R)^{\alpha+d} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\gamma(\alpha+d)}$$

which implies

$$D(P,R)^{\alpha+d} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P}\right)^{\alpha/2} \lesssim_{\alpha,d} d(P,R)^{\alpha+d} \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell P}\right)^{-\gamma(\alpha+d)+\alpha/2} \le d(P,R)^{\alpha+d}$$

since $\ell R/\ell P < 1$ and $\alpha/2 - \gamma(\alpha + d)$ is non-negative for $\gamma \leq \frac{\alpha}{2(\alpha+d)}$. Then multiply and divide (9.1) by $D(P,R)^{\alpha+d}(\ell P)^{-\alpha/2}(\ell R)^{\alpha/2}$ to conclude. $(\ell R \leq \ell P \leq 2^r \ell R)$: The lengths of P and R are comparable and the conclusion follows.

 $(\ell P < \ell R)$: Let x_P be the centre of P. Then

$$\int k_t(x,y)\Delta_P f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y = \int (k_t(x,y) - k_t(x,x_P))\Delta_P f(y) \, \mathrm{d}y$$
$$\lesssim \int \frac{|y - x_P|^{\alpha}}{(t + |x - y|)^{\alpha + d}} |\Delta_P f(y)| \, \mathrm{d}y$$

by the smoothness condition (C2), since $|y - x_P| \le \frac{\ell P}{2} < \frac{\ell R}{2} < t$. To conclude, note that

$$\frac{(\ell P)^{\alpha}}{(\frac{\ell R}{2} + \mathrm{d}(R, P))^{\alpha+d}} < \frac{(\ell P)^{\alpha}}{(\frac{\ell R}{4} + \frac{\ell P}{4} + \mathrm{d}(R, P))^{\alpha+d}} \le 4^{\alpha+d} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}}.$$

9.1. Counting close cubes. In both cases "near" and "close", given a fixed R we estimate the number of P such that $3P \supset R$.

Lemma 9.1. For $k \in \mathbb{N}$ let $\mathscr{P}_k(R) \coloneqq \{P : 3P \supset R, \ell P = 2^k \ell R\}$. Then $|\mathscr{P}_k(R)| = 3^d$.

Proof. Let $R^{(k)}$ be the k-ancestor of R. Then $R^{(k)}$ belongs to $\mathscr{P}_k(R)$. There are $3^d - 1$ cubes P adjacent to $R^{(k)}$ with $\ell P = \ell R^{(k)}$. Each of them is such that $3P \supset R^{(k)}$, so in particular $3P \supset R$.

On the other hand, if P is not adjacent to $R^{(k)}$ and $\ell P = \ell R^{(k)}$ then $d(P, R^{(k)}) \ge \ell P$, so 3P does not contain $R^{(k)}$, nor R.

This shows that the P in $\mathscr{P}_k(R)$ are exactly the cubes contained in $3R^{(k)}$ with $\ell P = \ell R^{(k)}$, and there are 3^d of such cubes.

Proof of Lemma 4.3. We present each case separately.

far : $\ell P \geq 2^{r+1}\ell R$ and $d(P,R) > \ell P$. The largest term in D(P,R)is d(P,R). Fix R and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Given $m \in \mathbb{N}$ there are at most 2^{md} cubes P with length $2^k\ell R$ such that $2^m\ell P < d(P,R) \leq 2^{m+1}\ell P$, so rearranging the sum

$$\sum_{\substack{P:\ell P \ge \ell R \\ \mathbf{d}(R,P) > \ell P}} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathbf{d}(R,P)^{\alpha+d}} |P| =$$

$$= \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{k=r \\ 2^{m+1} \ge \mathbf{d}(P,R)/\ell P > 2^m}}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{P:\ell P = 2^{k+1} \ell R \\ 2^{m+1} \ge \mathbf{d}(P,R)/\ell P > 2^m}} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\ell R \ell P}}{\mathbf{d}(R,P)}\right)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\mathbf{d}(P,R)}\right)^{d}$$

$$\leq \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} 2^{md} 2^{-\alpha(k/2+m)} 2^{-md} \le \sum_{k,m} 2^{-\alpha(k/2+m)}.$$

near: For P such that $3P \setminus P \supset R$ and $\ell P \ge 2^{r+1}\ell R$, the decay comes from d(P, R), which is bounded below by $\ell P(\ell R/\ell P)^{\gamma}$, and $\gamma = \alpha/(4\alpha + 4d)$. Then

$$\sum_{\substack{P: 3P \setminus P \supset R \\ \ell P \ge 2^{r+1}\ell R}} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{\mathrm{d}(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} |P| = \sum_{k=r+1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{P: 3P \setminus P \supset R \\ \ell P = 2^k \ell R}} \frac{|P|}{\mathrm{d}(P, R)^d} \left(\frac{\sqrt{\ell P \ell R}}{\mathrm{d}(P, R)}\right)^{\alpha}$$
$$\lesssim_d \sum_{k=r+1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\alpha/4}$$

where, by Lemma 9.1, the P in the sum are at most 3^d for each k. close : For $\ell R \leq \ell P \leq \ell R^{(r)}$ and $3P \supset R$, the leading term in the long-distance is ℓR , so

$$\frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R,P)^{\alpha+d}}|P| \le \frac{(2^{r/2}\ell R)^{\alpha}}{(\ell R)^{\alpha}}\frac{|P|}{|R|} \le 2^{\alpha r/2}\frac{|P|}{|R|}.$$

We fix a scale k for P, such that $0 \le k \le r$, then we estimate

$$\sum_{\substack{P: 3P \supset R\\ \ell R \leq \ell P \leq \ell R^{(r)}}} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha+d}} |P| \lesssim \sum_{\substack{P: 3P \supset R\\ \ell R \leq \ell P \leq \ell R^{(r)}}} \frac{|P|}{|R|} = \sum_{k=0}^{r} \sum_{\substack{P: 3P \supset R\\ \ell P = 2^{k} \ell R}} 2^{kd}$$
$$\leq 2^{rd} \sum_{k=0}^{r} |\{P: 3P \supset R, \ell P = 2^{k} \ell R\}| \leq 2^{rd} 3^{d} (r+1).$$

Where to estimate the number of P we used Lemma 9.1.

subscale, $P \subset 3R$: The leading term in the long-distance D(R, P) is again ℓR . For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there are $3^d 2^{kd}$ cubes P such that $P \subset 3R$ and $2^k \ell P = \ell R$, so

$$\sum_{P:P\subset 3R} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R,P)^{\alpha+d}} |P| \leq \sum_{P\subset 3R} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\alpha/2+d}$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{P\subset 3R\\\ell P=2^{-k}\ell R}} 2^{-k\frac{\alpha}{2}} 2^{-kd} \lesssim_d \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k\frac{\alpha}{2}} < \infty.$$

subscale, $P \not\subset 3R$: In this case $d(P, R) > \ell R > \ell P$. Regroup the *P* according to length and distance:

$$\begin{split} \sum_{\substack{P : P \not \subset 3R \\ \ell P < \ell R}} \frac{(\sqrt{\ell R \ell P})^{\alpha}}{D(R, P)^{\alpha + d}} |P| &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{\substack{P : 2^k \ell P = \ell R \\ \mathrm{d}(P, R) > \ell R}} 2^{-kd} \left(\frac{\ell R}{D(P, R)}\right)^d 2^{-k\alpha/2} \left(\frac{\ell R}{D(P, R)}\right)^{\alpha} \\ &\leq \sum_{k,m} \sum_{\substack{P : 2^k \ell P = \ell R \\ 2^{m+1} \geq \mathrm{d}(P, R) / \ell R > 2^m}} 2^{-k(d + \alpha/2)} 2^{-md} 2^{-m\alpha} \leq \sum_{k,m} 2^{-k\alpha/2} 2^{-m\alpha}. \end{split}$$

This because there are at most 2^{md} cubes R in the range given by the distance, which means at most $2^{md} \cdot 2^{kd}$ cubes P with $\ell P = 2^{-k} \ell R$.

Proof of Lemma 4.4 (for $\ell P < \ell R$). Recall that $\gamma \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$. Let K be the minimal cube $K \supset R$ such that $\ell K \ge 2^r \ell R$ and $d(P, R) \le \ell K \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma}$. (The set of such cubes is not empty since $\ell K \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma}$ equals $\ell P \left(\frac{\ell K}{\ell P}\right)^{1-\gamma}$ which goes to infinity as $\ell K \to \infty$.) First, observe that $P \subset K$. Suppose not, then

$$\ell K \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} < \ell K \left(\frac{\ell R}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} < \mathrm{d}(R, \partial K) \stackrel{P \subset K^{\complement}}{\leq} \mathrm{d}(R, P)$$

which is absurd because of the second condition on K. It remains to show the upper bound for ℓK . By minimality of K, one of the following conditions holds: either

$$\frac{\ell K}{2} < 2^r \ell R \quad \text{or} \quad \frac{\ell K}{2} \left(\frac{\ell P}{\frac{1}{2}\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} < \mathrm{d}(P,R).$$

Since by hypothesis $d(P, R) > (\ell R)^{1-\gamma} (\ell P)^{\gamma}$, the first implies

$$\ell K \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} \leq 2^{r} \ell R \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell K}\right)^{\gamma} \leq 2^{r} \ell R \left(\frac{\ell P}{\ell R}\right)^{\gamma} < 2^{r} \operatorname{d}(P, R).$$

The latter gives: $\ell K (\ell P / \ell K)^{\gamma} < 2 \operatorname{d}(P, R) \leq 2^r \operatorname{d}(P, R).$

Appendix A. Conditional expectation and Haar projections

In this appendix we recall some known bounds for the Haar projection. These involve conditional expectation and martingales related to the Haar system, see also [Gra14, §6.4].

Let \mathscr{S} be the stopping family defined in §6.1. Given $S \in \mathscr{S}$, let $\mathscr{A}^{\star}(S)$ be the maximal stopping cubes inside S. Let \mathscr{G}_S be the σ -algebra generated by $\mathscr{A}^{\star}(S)$. A function is measurable with respect the σ -algebra \mathscr{G}_S if and only if it is constant on any cube in $\mathscr{A}^{\star}(S)$.

A.1. Conditional expectation. Denote by $\mathbb{E}[\cdot | \mathscr{G}_S]$ the projection on the space of measurable functions with respect to the σ -algebra \mathscr{G}_S .

$$\mathbb{E}[f|\mathscr{G}_S](x) = \begin{cases} f(x) & \text{if } x \in S \setminus \mathcal{A}(S) \\ \langle f \rangle_{S'} & \text{if } x \in S' \text{ for some } S' \in \mathcal{A}^{\star}(S). \end{cases}$$

For more details about this operator, we refer the reader to [Hyt+16, §2.6]. Let \mathscr{S} be a stopping family for f. The supremum of $\mathbb{E}[f|\mathscr{G}_S]$ in S is either f(x) (if $\mathscr{A}(S)$ is empty), or $\langle f \rangle_{S'}$ for some $S' \in \mathscr{A}^*(S)$. In both cases $\|\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S|\mathscr{G}_S]\|_{L^{\infty}(S)} \lesssim_d \langle f \rangle_S$, since $\langle f \rangle_{S'} \leq 2^d A \langle f \rangle_S$ by the stopping conditions.

A.2. Haar projection. Given $S \in \mathscr{S}$, let $\mathsf{Tree}(S) = \{Q \in \mathfrak{D} : \widehat{Q} = S\}$ be the collection of cubes Q such that S is the minimal stopping cube containing Q.

The Haar projection on S is given by

$$\mathcal{P}_S f \coloneqq \sum_{I \in \mathsf{Tree}(S)} \Delta_I f = \sum_{I \in \mathsf{Tree}(S)} \sum_{\epsilon \in \{0,1\}^d \setminus \{0\}^d} \langle f, h_I^\epsilon \rangle h_I^\epsilon$$

where $\{h_I^{\epsilon}\}_{\epsilon}$ are the Haar functions on I. Being a sum of Haar functions on cubes in Tree(S), the Haar projection $\mathcal{P}_S f$ is constant on any $S' \in \mathcal{A}^*(S)$, so it's measurable on \mathscr{G}_S . It also holds that $\mathcal{P}_S f = \mathcal{P}_S \mathbb{E}[f \mathbb{1}_S | \mathscr{G}_S]$.

The Haar projection $\mathcal{P}_S f$ can be seen as a martingale transform, and so it satisfies the following

Lemma A.1 (L^p bound for martingale transform [Bur84]). For 1 we have

$$\|\mathcal{P}_S \mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S | \mathscr{G}_S]\|_p \le C_p \|\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S | \mathscr{G}_S]\|_p.$$
(A.1)

Combining (A.1) with the estimate for the supremum of $\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S|\mathscr{G}_S]$ one obtains that

$$\|\mathcal{P}_S f\|_p \lesssim_p \langle f \rangle_S.$$

A.3. Richer σ -algebras and *r*-Haar projections. The same idea works with slight modifications when *S* is the minimal stopping cube containing the *r*-ancestor of *Q*. Let $\text{Tree}_r(S)$ be the collection of cubes *Q* such that $\widehat{Q^{(r)}} = S$. Define the *r*-Haar projection on *S* as

$$\mathbb{P}^r_S f = \sum_{Q \in \mathsf{Tree}_r(S)} \Delta_Q f.$$

Remark A.2. The projection $\mathcal{P}_S^r f$ is not measurable on \mathscr{G}_S in general, but it is measurable with respect to the richer σ -algebra generated by the rgrandchildren of $S' \in \mathscr{A}^*(S)$, which is

$$\mathscr{G}_{S}^{r} \coloneqq \sigma\Big(\{(S')_{r} \in \mathsf{ch}_{r}(S'), S' \in \mathscr{A}^{\star}(S)\}\Big).$$

Then $\mathcal{P}_{S}^{r}f = \mathcal{P}_{S}^{r}\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_{S}|\mathscr{G}_{S}^{r}]$ and we have the following

Lemma A.3. Given a function f, let S be a stopping cube in \mathscr{S}_f as defined in §6.1. Then

$$\|\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S|\mathscr{G}_S^r]\|_{L^{\infty}(S)} \lesssim_{d,r} \langle f \rangle_S.$$

Proof. Either $|f(x)| \leq A\langle f \rangle_S$ for all $x \in S$, or there exists $S' \in \mathcal{A}^*(S)$ with $x_0 \in (S')_r$ and $\mathbb{E}[f\mathbb{1}_S|\mathscr{G}_S^r](x_0) = \langle f \rangle_{(S')_r}$. Let P be the dyadic parent of $(S')_r$. Then $P \in \mathsf{Tree}_r(S)$ and we have

$$\langle f \rangle_{(S')_r} \le 2^d \langle f \rangle_P \le 2^d 2^{dr} \langle f \rangle_{P^r} \le 2^{d(r+1)} A \langle f \rangle_S$$

where we used the stopping condition in the last inequality.



Figure 1. An example of stopping tree $\mathsf{Tree}(S)$ and the maximal stopping cubes in $\mathscr{A}^*(S)$. Below, shifted by r generations, there is the stopping tree $\mathsf{Tree}_r(S)$. The cubes Q in $\mathsf{Tree}_r(S)$ contained in a specific r-grandchild S_r are highlighted.

A.4. Haar projection on maximal cubes. For $S \in \mathscr{S}$, the *r*-grandchildren $ch_r(S)$ are the maximal cubes in $Tree_r(S)$. Then the restriction of Haar projection \mathcal{P}_S^r on a $S_r \in ch_r(S)$ is

$$\mathcal{P}_{S_r} f \coloneqq \sum_{\substack{Q \in \mathsf{Tree}_r(S)\\ Q \subseteq S_r}} \Delta_Q f \quad \text{and satisfies} \quad \langle |\mathcal{P}_{S_r} f| \rangle_{S_r} \lesssim \langle |f| \rangle_S. \tag{7.1}$$

Proof of (7.1). The Haar projector $\mathcal{P}_{S_r} f$ is measurable with respect to the σ -algebra \mathscr{G}_S^r , then

Divide by $|S_r|$ both sides to conclude.

Acknowledgements

This work will be part of the author's PhD thesis supervised by Maria Carmen Reguera whose patience, support and guidance is greatly appreciated. The author wishes to thank Michael Lacey and Mingming Cao for suggesting improvements on an earlier version of the paper, and Gennady Uraltsev for stimulating discussions on related topics.

References

- [BelC17] BELTRAN, DAVID; CLADEK, LAURA. Sparse bounds for pseudodifferential operators. J. Anal. Math. 140 (2020), no. 1, 89–116. MR4094458, Zbl 07197785, arXiv:1711.02339, doi: 10.1007/s11854-020-0083-x. 1235
- [BenBL17] BENEA, CRISTINA; BERNICOT, FRÉDÉRIC; LUQUE, TERESA. Sparse bilinear forms for Bochner Riesz multipliers and applications. Trans. London Math. Soc. 4 (2017), no. 1, 110–128. MR3653057, Zbl 1395.42021, doi:10.1112/tlm3.12005.1235
- [BerFP16] BERNICOT, FRÉDÉRIC; FREY, DOROTHEE; PETERMICHL, STEFANIE. Sharp weighted norm estimates beyond Calderón–Zygmund theory. Anal. PDE 9 (2016), no. 5, 1079–1113. MR3531367, Zbl 1344.42009, arXiv:1510.00973, doi:10.2140/apde.2016.9.1079. 1235
- [Buc93] BUCKLEY, STEPHEN M. Estimates for operator norms on weighted spaces and reverse Jensen inequalities. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 340 (1993), no. 1, 253–272. MR1124164, Zbl 0795.42011, doi: 10.2307/2154555. 1234
- [Bur84] BURKHOLDER, DONALD L. Boundary value problems and sharp inequalities for martingale transforms. Ann. Probab. 12 (1984), no. 3, 647–702.MR744226, Zbl 0556.60021, doi: 10.1214/aop/1176993220. 1267
- [CD17] CARRO, MARA J.; DOMINGO-SALAZAR, CARLOS. Stein's square function G_{α} and sparse operators. J. Geom. Anal. **27** (2017), no. 2, 1624–1635. MR3625166, Zbl 1371.42017, doi: 10.1007/s12220-016-9733-8. 1235
- [ChJ87] CHRIST, MICHAEL; JOURNÉ, JEAN-LIN. Polynomial growth estimates for multilinear singular integral operators. Acta Math. 159 (1987), no. 1–2, 51–80. MR906525, Zbl 0645.42017, doi: 10.1007/BF02392554. 1233
- [Con+17] CONDE-ALONSO, JOSÉ M.; CULIUC, AMALIA; DI PLINIO, FRANCESCO;
 OU, YUMENG. A sparse domination principle for rough singular integrals. Anal. PDE 10 (2017), no. 5, pp. 1255–1284. MR3668591, Zbl 1392.42011, doi: 10.2140/apde.2017.10.1255. 1235
- [ConR16] CONDE-ALONSO, JOSÉ M.; REY, GUILLERMO. A pointwise estimate for positive dyadic shifts and some applications. Math. Ann. 365 (2016), no. 3–4, 1111–1135. MR3521084, Zbl 1353.42011, arXiv:1409.4351, doi: 10.1007/s00208-015-1320-y. 1235
- [CrMP12] CRUZ-URIBE, DAVID; MARTELL, JOSÉ MARÍA; PÉREZ, CARLOS. Sharp weighted estimates for classical operators. Adv. Math. 229 (2012), no. 1, 408–441. MR2854179, Zbl 1236.42010, arXiv:1001.4254, doi:10.1016/j.aim.2011.08.013. 1234
- [CuDO18a] CULIUC, AMALIA; DI PLINIO, FRANCESCO; OU, YUMENG. Domination of multilinear singular integrals by positive sparse forms. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2) 98 (2018), no. 2, 369–392. MR3873113, Zbl 1402.42013, arXiv:1603.05317, doi:10.1112/jlms.12139.1235
- [CuDO18b] CULIUC, AMALIA; DI PLINIO, FRANCESCO; OU, YUMENG. Uniform sparse domination of singular integrals via dyadic shifts. *Math. Res. Lett.* 25 (2018), no. 1, 21–42. MR3818613, Zbl 1395.42031, arXiv:1610.01958, doi:10.4310/mrl.2018.v25.n1.a2. 1235
- [DDU18] DI PLINIO, FRANCESCO; DO, YEN Q.; URALTSEV, GENNADY N. Positive sparse domination of variational Carleson operators. Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. (5) 18 (2018), no. 4, 1443–1458. MR3829751, Zbl 1403.42010, arXiv:1612.03028, doi:10.2422/2036-2145.201612_009. 1235
- [DLR16] DOMINGO-SALAZAR, CARLOS; LACEY, MICHAEL; REY, GUILLERMO. Borderline weak-type estimates for singular integrals and square functions. Bull. Lond. Math. Soc. 48 (2016), no. 1, 63–73. MR3455749, Zbl 1343.42012, arXiv:1505.01804. doi:10.1112/blms/bdv090. 1235

GIANMARCO BROCCHI

- [Dra+05] DRAGIČEVIĆ, OLIVER; GRAFAKOS, LOUKAS; PEREYRA, MARÍA CRISTINA; PETERMICHL, STEFANIE. Extrapolation and sharp norm estimates for classical operators on weighted Lebesgue spaces. *Publ. Mat.* 49 (2005), no. 1, 73–91. MR2140200, Zbl 1081.42007, doi: 10.5565/PUBLMAT_49105_03. 1234
- [Gra14] GRAFAKOS, LOUKAS. Classical Fourier analysis. Third edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 249. Springer, New York, 2014. xviii+638 pp. ISBN: 978-1-4939-1193-6; 978-1-4939-1194-3. MR3243734, Zbl 1304.42001, doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-1194-3. 1233, 1234, 1238, 1266
- [Hof08] HOFMANN, STEVE. A local Tb theorem for square functions. Perspectives in partial differential equations, harmonic analysis and applications, 175–185.
 Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., 79. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2008. MR2500492, Zbl 1156.42307. 1233
- [Hof10] HOFMANN, STEVE. Local T(b) theorems and applications in PDE. Harmonic analysis and partial differential equations, 29–52, Contemp. Math., 505. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2010. MR2664559, Zbl 1204.42023, doi: 10.1090/conm/505/09914. 1233
- [HTV00] HUKOVIC, S.; TREIL, SERGEI; VOLBERG, ALEXANDER. The Bellman functions and sharp weighted inequalities for square functions. *Complex analy*sis, operators, and related topics, 97–113, Oper. Theory Adv. Appl., 113. *Birkhäuser, Basel*, 2000. MR1771755, Zbl 0972.42011. 1234
- [Hyt12] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS P. The sharp weighted bound for general Calderón-Zygmund operators. Ann. Math. (2) 175 (2012), no. 3, 1473–1506.
 MR2912709, Zbl 1250.42036, doi: 10.4007/annals.2012.175.3.9. 1235, 1237
- [Hyt17] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS P. Representation of singular integrals by dyadic operators, and the A_2 theorem. *Expo. Math.* **35** (2017), no. 2, 166–205. MR3654073, Zbl 1402.42026, arXiv:1108.5119. doi: 10.1016/j.exmath.2016.09.003. 1238, 1242
- [Hyt+14] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS; PÉREZ, CARLOS; TREIL, SERGEI; VOLBERG, ALEXAN-DER. Sharp weighted estimates for dyadic shifts and the A₂ conjecture. J. Reine Angew. Math. 687 (2014), 43–86. MR3176607, Zbl 1311.42037, arXiv:1010.0755, doi:10.1515/crelle-2012-0047. 1261
- [Hyt+16] HYTÖNEN, TUOMAS; VAN NEERVEN, JAN; VERAAR, MARK; WEIS, LUTZ. Analysis in Banach spaces. I. Martingales and Littlewood–Paley theory. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics, 63. Springer, Cham, 2016. xvi+614 pp. ISBN: 978-3-319-48519-5; 978-3-319-48520-1. MR3617205, Zbl 1366.46001, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-48520-1. 1266
- [Lac17] LACEY, MICHAEL T. An elementary proof of the A₂ bound. Israel J. Math.
 217 (2017), no. 1, 181–195. MR3625108, Zbl 1368.42016, arXiv:1501.05818, doi: 10.1007/s11856-017-1442-x. 1235
- [LL16] LACEY, MICHAEL T.; LI, KANGWEI. On $A_p A_{\infty}$ type estimates for square functions. *Math. Z.* **284** (2016), no. 3–4, 1211–1222. MR3563275, Zbl 1370.42015, arXiv:1505.00195. doi: 10.1007/s00209-016-1696-8. 1235
- [LM17b] LACEY, MICHAEL T.; MENA ARIAS, DARÍO. The sparse T1 theorem. Houston J. Math. 43 (2017), no. 1, 111–127. MR3647935, Zbl 1378.42010, arXiv:1610.01531. 1235, 1261, 1262

- [LMR19] LACEY, MICHAEL T.; MENA, DARIO; REGUERA, MARIA CARMEN. Sparse bounds for Bochner–Riesz multipliers. J. Fourier Anal. Appl. 25 (2019), no. 2, 523–537. MR3917956, Zbl 1412.42036, doi: 10.1007/s00041-017-9590-2. 1235
- [LS12] LACEY, MICHAEL T.; SCURRY, JAMES. Weighted weak type estimates for square functions. Preprint, 2012. arXiv:1211.4219. 1235
- [LS17] LACEY, MICHAEL T.; SPENCER, SCOTT. Sparse bounds for oscillatory and random singular integrals. New York J. Math. 23 (2017), 119–131. MR3611077, Zbl 1355.42010, arXiv:1609.06364. 1235
- [Ler06] LERNER, ANDREI K. On some sharp weighted norm inequalities. J. Funct. Anal. 232 (2006), no. 2, 477–494. MR2200743, Zbl 1140.42005, doi:10.1016/j.jfa.2005.08.006. 1234
- [Ler08] LERNER, ANDREI K. On some weighted norm inequalities for Littlewood– Paley operators. Illinois J. Math. 52 (2008), no. 2, 653–666. MR2524658, Zbl 1177.42016, doi: 10.1215/ijm/1248355356. 1234
- [Ler11] LERNER, ANDREI K. Sharp weighted norm inequalities for Littlewood– Paley operators and singular integrals. Adv. Math. 226 (2011), no. 5, 3912–3926. MR2770437, Zbl 1226.42010, arXiv:1005.1422, doi:10.1016/j.aim.2010.11.009. 1234
- [Ler13] LERNER, ANDREI K. A simple proof of the A₂ conjecture. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2013, no. 14, 3159–3170. MR3085756, Zbl 1318.42018, doi:10.1093/imrn/rns145. 1235
- [Ler16] LERNER, ANDREI K. On pointwise estimates involving sparse operators. New York J. Math. 22 (2016), 341–349. MR3484688, Zbl 1347.42030, arXiv:1512.07247. 1235
- [LN15] LERNER, ANDREI K.; NAZAROV, FEDOR. Intuitive dyadic calculus: the basics. *Expo. Math.* **37** (2019), no. 3, 225–265. MR4007575, Zbl 07127659, arXiv:1508.05639, doi: 10.1016/j.exmath.2018.01.001.
- [MM14] MARTIKAINEN, HENRI; MOURGOGLOU, MIHALIS. Square functions with general measures. Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 142 (2014), no. 11, 3923–3931.
 MR3251732, Zbl 1325.42015, arXiv:1212.3684, doi: 10.1090/S0002-9939-2014-12145-9. 1239, 1240, 1242, 1247
- [MM15] MARTIKAINEN, HENRI; MOURGOGLOU, MIHALIS. Boundedness of nonhomogeneous square functions and L^q type testing conditions with $q \in (1, 2)$. *Math. Res. Lett.* **22** (2015), no. 5, 1417–1457. MR3488382, Zbl 1344.42012, arXiv:1401.5457, doi: 10.4310/MRL.2015.v22.n5.a8. 1241
- [MMV19] MARTIKAINEN, HENRI; MOURGOGLOU, MIHALIS; VUORINEN, EMIL. A new approach to non-homogeneous local *Tb* theorems. Preprint, 2015. To appear in *J. Anal. Math.* arXiv:1511.00528. 1234
- [NTV03] NAZAROV, FEDOR; TREIL, SERGEI; VOLBERG, ALEXANDER L. The *Tb*theorem on non-homogeneous spaces. *Acta Math.* **190** (2003), no. 2, 151–239.
 MR1998349, Zbl 1065.42014, doi: 10.1007/BF02392690. 1236
- [Ober19] OBERLIN, RICHARD. Sparse bounds for a prototypical singular Radon transform. Canad. Math. Bull. 62 (2019), no. 2, 405–415. MR3952528, Zbl 07058769, arXiv:1704.04297, doi: 10.4153/cmb-2018-007-5. 1235
- [Per19] PEREYRA, MARIÁ CRISTINA. Dyadic harmonic analysis and weighted inequalities: the sparse revolution. New Trends in Applied Harmonic Analysis, 2, 159–239, Applied and Numerical Harmonic Analysis. Birkhäuser, Cham, 2019. Zbl 07215908, arXiv:1812.00850, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-32353-0_7. 1237, 1242
- [Sem90] SEMMES, STEPHEN. Square function estimates and the T(b) theorem. *Proc.* Amer. Math. Soc. **110** (1990), no. 3, 721–726. MR1028049, Zbl 0719.42023, doi: 10.2307/2047913.

GIANMARCO BROCCHI

- [Wil07] WILSON, MICHAEL. The intrinsic square function. Rev. Mat. Iberoam. 23 (2007), no. 3, 771–791. MR2414491, Zbl 1213.42072, doi: 10.4171/RMI/512. 1234
- [Wit02] WITTWER, JANINE. A sharp estimate on the norm of the continuous square function. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.* 130 (2002), no. 8, 2335–2342. MR1897458, Zbl 1034.42008, doi: 10.1090/S0002-9939-02-06342-6. 1234

(Gianmarco Brocchi) SCHOOL OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF BIRMINGHAM, B15 2TT, BIRMINGHAM, UK G.Brocchi@pgr.bham.ac.uk

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2020/26-51.html.